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(PUBLIC SESSION)

CHIEF JUDGE BARNETT: Good morning.

6 Pleasebe seated.
I'm sure I clearedmy desk off on

8 Friday. What is this'? Binders.

10

ProfessorKatz, you remain under oath.

Mr. Joseph.

MR. JOSEPH: Thank you, Your Honor.

12 NAB calls ProfessorMichael Katz on his direct
13 testimony.

14 MICHAEL L. KATZ, Ph.D.,

15 having been previously duly sworn, to tell the

16 truth, the whole truth and nothing but the truth,
17 testified as follows:

18 DIRECT EXAMINATION BY COUNSEL FOR NAB

19 BY MR . JOSEPH:

20

21

22

Q. Good morning, ProfessorKatz.

Good morning.

Would you please turn to the tab in

23 your direct examinationbinder marked NAB 4000 to

24 confirm that that is your written direct testimony

25 which I believe is already in evidence.
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A. It is.
5647

MR. JOSEPH: Your Honors, I believe it
3 was admitted subject to -- without prejudice to

4 possibleobjections. I have been informed by

5 counsel for SoundExchangethat there are none, but

6 I wanted to raise that just in case there were, so

7 now it is fully in evidence.

MR. POMERANTZ: No objections, Your

9 Honor.

10 CHIEF JUDGE BARNETT: 4000 to the

11 extent it was in doubt, is now fully in evidence.

12 (NAB Exhibit 4000 was readmitted into
13 evidence.)

14

15

MR. JOSEPH: Thank you, Your Honor.

BY MR. JOSEPH:

16 Q. ProfessorKatz, in your written direct
17 testimony, you state that, and I quote: "A market

18 cannot be effectively competitive in the absenceof

19 buyer choice."

20 Could you explain what you mean by

21 that?
22 A. Yes. I mean, absenceof buyer

23 choice

24 MR. POMERANTZ: Objection, Your Honor.

25 I think we exhaustivelycoveredeffective
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1 competition the last time that ProfessorKatz was

2 here, and while it is in his direct testimony for

3 sure, it was also in his rebuttal testimony and at

4 some point, the subjectmatter becomescumulative.

5 I'm not sure why there is anything in effective
6 competition that was not already coveredwhen he

7 was here the last time.

5648

CHIEF JUSTICE BARNETT: Mr. Joseph, do

9 you want to respond?

10 MR. JOSEPH: Your Honor, it's clearly
11 in his direct testimony. I believe we are entitled
12 to presenthis direct testimony to the extent there

13 were issues that were not covered, and we going to

14 keep this part brief, and there were a few

15 observationsthat ProfessorKatz had coming out of

16 his direct testimony.

17 CHIEF JUDGE BARNETT: The key is to the

18 extent it was not already covered, so the objection
19 is sustainedas far as cumulative testimony, but

20 you may set the stage.

21

22

MR. JOSEPH: Thank you, Your Honor .

BY MR . JOSEPH:

23 ProfessorKatz, the questionwas: In

24 your written direct testimony, you state: "A

25 market cannot be effectively competitive in the

(866) 448 - DEPO www.CapitalReportIngCompany.corn  2015
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1 absenceof buyer choice."
5649

Could you explain what you mean by

3 that?
Yes. As I said, the buyer choice is

5 the essenceof competition becauseit's the

6 possibility of substituting the products of one

7 seller for another that drives sellers to want to

8 compete, is they say — — like the seller says, if I

9 will give you a better offer, then maybe as a

10 buyer, you will substituteto me, so it's really
11 the essenceof competition.

12 Q. Does that same conclusion apply when

13 the buyer is in a noninteractiveservice'?

15

Yes, it's the same principle.
Do you recall in your written direct

16 testimony a section starting on Page 24 titled: "A

17 monopolizedmarket is not competitive?"

Yes.

Just to discussa couple of the points

20 you make in that section, supposethere is a buyer

21 that is large in some sense. In that case, could

22 the market be effectively competitive even if the

23 buyer could not engage in substitution?
No. I mean, it's the same principle.

25 If the buyer doesn'thave choice, then there is no
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1 competition effective or otherwise. Sometimes,

2 particularly in antitrust, economistswill single
3 out large buyers as potentially being able to

4 engage in more substitutionbecausea large buyer

5 may be able to vertically integrateor to sponsora

6 new entrant in order to createnew options for the

7 buyer, create the possibility of substitution, but

8 I don't think anybody is saying here that any of

9 the serviceshave the ability to start their own

10 record company or to sponsora new major.

5650

11 Q ~ In a situation where there are

12 must—have sellers and no possibility of — — excuse

13 me, is a situation in which there are must-have

14 sellers and no possibility of steering, one

15 characterizedby effective competition?

16 A. No. It is just an example of what we

17 have been talking about where the buyer doesn'

18 have choice, so by definition, there is no

19 competition.

20 Q- Would it matter to your answer whether

21 the sellers have acquired their must-havestatus
22 lawfully or legally'
23 Not to the analysis of whether or not

24 there is competition. Obviously, it matters

25 whether or not it's lawful, but. if they have a
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1 lawful monopoly, it is still a monopoly.

2 Q. Now in Paragraph37 of your written

3 direct testimony, you quote a portion of the Web II

4 decision which is shown on your demonstrativeSlide

5 2, and in Part A of the technical appendix of your

6 written direct testimony, you then provide what you

7 consider to be a counterexample.

5651

Can you explain to the judges what

9 point you are making?

10 MR. JOSEPH: Excuse me. Before you do,

11 I think we need to have the demonstratives

CHIEF JUDGE BARNETT: That helps.

13 Thank you.

MR. JOSEPH: -- given to the Court. I

15 didn't not:ice that the judges were scratchingtheir
16 headswhen I said demonstratives.

17 CHIEF JUDGE BARNETT: Are we looking at
18 the one on Page 2?

19

20

21

MR. JOSEPH: Slide 2, yes, Your Honor.

CHIEF JUDGE BARNETT: Okay.

THE WITNESS: Where the first two words

22 are "a competitive." Everybody has it.
23 So what I was respondingto here is,
24 you see it's a quotation from the Web II decision

25 where it was putting forth an economic principle,
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1 and it is saying that a market would be

2 competitive, you can say it was competitive if you

3 had buyers and sellers that had equal bargaining

4 power and it says the reasonyou can think of that
5 is competitive as -- is the price you would get

6 would be closer to the competitive price than

7 either the monopoly price or the monopsonyprice.

5652

And earlier in my testimony, it'
9 actually the precedingparagraph, I had already

10 talked about some of the broad principles why that
11 wasn't correct, and in particular, the discussion

12 of large buyers and the lack of large buyer options

13 here.

14 But then what I did in the technical
15 appendix is just provided an example to show a -- a

16 plain vanilla example to show that this wasn'

17 correct as a general statementof economics. That

18 it's not the case that whenever you have roughly

19 equal bargainingpower, you get a price closer to

20 the competitive one than the monopoly one, and what

21 I did is just provided a simple example with linear
22 demand, et cetera, to say, look, just this one

23 example is enough to show it's not true.

Q. Is it your view that the licensing of

25 sound recording performancerates to interactive
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1 services is a situation in which the buyer and the

2 seller have roughly equal bargainingpower?

3 A. No, I wasn't offering the example as a

4 model of the industry, certainly not a model of how

5 bargainingworks for interactive services. It was

6 really a responseto this quotation, becauseI

7 don't think that they have equal bargainingpower.

8 That is, you know, opinion -- certainly at one

9 point at least I sharedwith Dr. Rubinfeld, and I

10 won't belabor the famous slide and stuff, but where

11 he explained to the Federal Trade Commission that
12 the sellershave almost all the bargainingpower,

13 so it is not a situation of equal bargainingpower.

14 The example is just respondingto this quotation.

5653

15 On Page 11 of his written rebuttal
16 testimony, ProfessorTalley assertsthat your

17 example is, and I quote: "Inconsistentwith the

18 fundamentalnature of the market and conventional

19 economic theory."

20 He also objects to your model on the

21 grounds that there is no scope for a monopolist

22 a monopsonist, I'm sorry, to truncatedemand.

23 Do you agreewith these criticisms?
24 A. No. As I understandhis criticism
25 about -- the truncation is what he is objecting to,
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1 is in sort of a standardmodel of a monopsonist

2 facing a bunch of perfectly competitive suppliers,
3 there is a way in which the monopsonistpotentially
4 cuts back on how much it demands to drive price

5 down .

5654

Now the situation in this industry is
7 very different from that, the thing about the

8 typical bargaining for interactive services. The

9 way the bargainingworks is, the parties would

10 negotiatea price and then after the price is
11 negotiated, then the buyer gets to chose the

12 quantity. And in that situation and that is
13 something that's capturedby the examples I have in

14 my appendix, in that situation, you don't get the

15 standardmonopsonyoutput reduction, and Professor

16 Talley apparently is objecting to that.
17 I think that objection is completely

18 misplacedbecausein a sensewhat he's doing is
19 objecting to the actual feature of the market.

20 It's not a statementabout my analysis. I did a

21 completely conventionalanalysis of the bargaining

22 institutions in this market.

23 Q. What is your responseto his claim that
24 your model is inconsistentwith the fundamental

25 nature of the market?
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As I say, I think that is backwards.
5655

2 Again, it is not — — the model is not offered as a

3 full analysis of the industry. It's a

4 counterexamplebut that particular feature I

5 thought was important to include, and that is
6 realistic, and so it is a conventionalanalysis

7 having an assumptionthat reflects the way this
8 market actually works.

9 Q. ProfessorTalley also says that your

10 example can't support your categoricalconclusions.

12

Do you agree?

No. I mean, the categoricalconclusion

13 that I used that model for, as -- the Court was

14 surprisedwhen I said no, I don't agree.

15 CHIEF JUDGE BARNETT: Shocked.

16 THE WITNESS: In anothermatter, I have

17 to say there was one where everyone in the

18 courtroom got the opposite of the answer they

19 thought I was going to would give, but not this
20 time.

21 No, the categoricalconclusion, the

22 point I was making is that the statementhere is
23 not. a general economic proposition. And I assume,

24 I think that now it's four for four, and I think it
25 supports it.
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BY MR. JOSEPH:
5656

2 Q ~ ProfessorKatz, the question I think

3 everybody in the courtroom is waiting for the

4 answer for is: What is the point of your

5 demonstrativeSlide No. 3?

Maybe the fundamentalpoint is -- I

7 know you have all been in this room for a long

8 time. But the point of it is this. It's a

9 well-known point in logic, so I thought we might

10 have a fun way to illustrate it and the point is
11 this. If what you are doing is trying to prove

12 that the claim that all crows are black, if you

13 want to disapprovethat. claim, you only have to

14 find one white crow, you don't have to find a lot
15 of others, so I am just making the point that
16 what I was doing in my appendix or the example was

17 doing was showing that the generalproposition in

18 Web II is false.
19 Q. Well, but wait, do you think that
20 examples like the one you gave in which equal

21 bargainingpower price is closer to the monopoly

22 price than the competitive price are as rare as

23 white crows?

24 No, actually, I don'. See, I was

25 clever, I used a diagram with equal numbers of them
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1 but I also could have said, what I have done is
2 shown — — I can disprove the claim that all crows

3 are white by showing it's black becauseI think the

4 examples I gave are plain vanilla example. I

5 agreed that there are other examples that go the

6 different direction, but again, the point is
7 established.

5657

And I think what is really more

9 important is rather than getting caught up in the

10 example, which I stand by, it makes the point I

11 wanted to make, is that we should really be

12 focusing on the featuresof the industry and in

13 this industry, there are multiple buyers. It is
14 not a situation of one seller and one buyer.

15 Q. In Paragraph14 of your written direct
16 testimony, you say, and I quote: "A seller will
17 not agree to a price below its marginal or

18 incrementalcosts of providing the good or service

19 including the opportunity cost of doing so."

20 Can you explain what you mean by the

21 marginal or incrementalcosts when applied to a

22 record company licensing or selling its music?

23 Okay, so when a record company is
24 selling the CD, the marginal cost is going to be

25 the extra cost it triggers to sell one more CD so
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1 that's going to have the production cost, the

2 distribution cost, et cetera.

5658

Now when you think about the marginal

4 cost of the license, the out of pocket cost is
5 probably going to be zero or near zero. If what

6 you think is you already have a license with a

7 particular service, and they'e going to have one

8 more play. I mean, the record company may do

9 essentiallynothing, so in that sense, the marginal

10 cost is near zero, but we also -- as an economist,

11 we'e taking into account opportunity costs, and

12 would say, okay, if the record company — — if there

13 is one more play of its intellectual property, one

14 more play of its recording, that may affect its
15 sales of other products, and the record company is
16 going to want to take that into account and that'
17 what the notion of opportunity cost is getting at,
18 is saying, if there is one more play of -- when you

19 are recording, how does that affect your revenues

20 and profits from other sources.

21 JUDGE STRICKLER: Would you say

22 first of all, good morning.

23 THE WITNESS: Good morning.

JUDGE STRICKLER: Mould you say that
25 the concept of opportunity cost is essentiallythe
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1 same as the concept of substitutionas is set forth

2 in the statute that we are dealing with?

5659

THE WITNESS: I would say substitution
4 and also promotion. If we take those as two sides

5 of the same coin

JUDGE STRICKLER: Promotion being a

7 negative opportunity.

THE WITNESS: Exactly. Exactly.

9 Again, I'm not offering a legal opinion but

10 certainly as an economist, I think that is what

11 it's getting at.
12 JUDGE STRICKLER: I want to stay with

13 your Paragraph14 for the moment. The first
14 sentencein your Paragraph14 of your written
15 direct testimony says, quote: If interpreted
16 literally and narrowly, the willing buyer/willing

17 seller standardwould exhibit a broad range of

18 indeterminatelythe level of license fees."

20

21

Do you see that?

THE WITNESS: Yes.

JUDGE STRICKLER: Do you mean by that,
22 that there is an interpretationof the willing
23 economically, that there is an interpretationof

24 the willing buyer/willing seller standard, other

25 than the literal and narrow approachthat would
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1 exhibit an absenceof indeterminatelysuch that we

2 can set a rate by applying an economic version of

3 the willing buyer/willing seller standard?

5660

THE WITNESS: It is certainly my view

5 that you can interpret it economicallyas saying

6 what we mean by a willing buyer is that the buyer

7 has choice and where the choice is beyond just
8 you either take the firm's product or you don',
9 becausein that sense, any buyer has a choice. But

10 that it has meaningful choice and that really gets

11 into the point of effective competition.

12 Now I think that saying that what we

13 mean by a willing buyer is -- a willing buyer is
14 one who's in a situation with effective
15 competition, that by itself, is not going to get

16 rid of all the indeterminates,it's going to narrow

17 things down, but as I think you'e heard from

18 multiple witnesses,and here from me about, is that
19 the concept of effective competition doesn'tgive

20 you a precisenumber by itself. It is a little
21 fuzzier concept.

JUDGE STRICKLER: When you interpret it
23 literally and narrowly as you suggestin Paragraph

24 14 or under the effective or workable competition

25 standard,either way we have indeterminatelyand
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1 either way we have a range of indeterminately
5661

THE WITNESS: You'e going to have a

3 range either way. It's just going to be much

4 broader this way and as I say

JUDGE STRICKLER: Broader which way?

THE WITNESS: Much broader, if it is
7 just interpretedas saying, well, the buyer entered

8 into the agreementwithout literally having a gun

9 put to his or her head.

10 JUDGE STRICKLER: There would be no

11 indeterminatelyin that situation. In a take it or

12 leave it situation, we have determinately, you

13 either pay the price the seller demandsor you

14 don't enter the market at all, so we have

15 indeterminately,but not necessarilygood

16 indeterminately.

17 THE WITNESS: There is a sense, but if
18 you are saying that that would be the high end and

19 then the low end would be the seller'smarginal

20 cost, then I am saying that almost any price
21 basically, you would be saying any price between

22 marginal cost and presumably-- well, actually in a

23 market with complements, it would be saying, look,

24 any price is fine betweenmarginal costs and the

25 price that would come out of a situation where we
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1 have complements, that is actually higher than the

2 monopoly price.

5662

JUDGE STRICKLER: I have a question for

4 you about marginal cost pricing in this market.

5 Perhapscounsel can move along becauseit comes up

6 a little bit later in your written direct
7 testimony.

10

MR. JOSEPH: Thank you, Your Honor.

JUDGE STRICKLER: Thank you.

BY MR. JOSEPH:

11 Q. Could you provide an example of how

12 opportunity costs would apply to a record company

13 when licensing to an on-demandservice'?

14 A. Yeah, I think the next demonstrative

15 for some help in thinking about that, so we think

16 of an on-demandservice, it's here, shown as an

17 interactive service, using those terms

18 synonymously. If the record company licensesan

19 additional play, the marginal play, through the

20 interactive service, that could adverselyaffect
21 its sales of downloads to own or its salesof CDs,

22 and so that would be an opportunity cost of

23 licensing to the interactive service, that there

24 would be some forgone profits that the record

25 company otherwise would have gotten from downloads
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1 or CD sales.
5663

Could you provide an example of how

3 opportunity costs would apply to a record company

4 when licensing an Internet simulcast of the

5 terrestrialbroadcast?

So in the simulcastingcase, one that
7 happened-- Judge Strickler and I just were talking
8 about this and we'e got to think about negative

9 opportunity cost as a possibility as well, that an

10 additional play on a simulcast, then it's going to

11 have promotional effects that actually encourage

12 the sale of downloads and CDs, then it would

13 actually have a negative opportunity cost because

14 the additional play would actually be simulating

15 other sales for the record company that are

16 profitable.
17 Q ~ In Paragraph8 of his written rebuttal
18 testimony, Dr. Blackburn claims that promotion that
19 shifts share among record companies,what he calls
20 diversionarypromotion, should not be taken into

21 account in assessingopportunity costs or benefits
22 as part of determinationof an effectively
23 competitive price.
24

25

Do you agree as a matter of economics?

No, I don't agreewith that at all,
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1 becausewhat he is saying is, supposethere is a

2 form of promotion, and what it does is it's going

3 to shift share among record companies.

5664

Well, if I am a record company and I am

5 competing, that's a good thing from my perspective.

6 If I can shift share from my rivals to me and make

7 money on it, I'm going to count that, so when I'm

8 thinking about what sort of deals I'm going to

9 enter into, I'm going to count that kind of -- that
10 diversionarypromotion is going to count, and that
11 is something I'm going to take into account in

12 thinking about the costs and benefits. It's going

13 to affect my decision calculation.
14 JUDGE STRICKLER: So if I understand

15 your testimony correctly, you are saying that
16 promotion can have two effects. It can expand the

17 entire pie, more listeners,more music, more

18 revenue flowing into the market for all services,
19 but it could also simply divide the existing pie,
20 the existing percentagesin either way, that
21 those are examples of competitive functions.

THE WITNESS: That's absolutely

23 correct. So Dr. Blackburn is drawing that
24 distinction under -- different names of distinction
25 appearsall the time in economics, and what I am
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1 testifying to is that both of those types of

2 promotions would count. If I am a competitor and I

3 am thinking about what my opportunity cost is or

4 what my benefits are of getting the promotion.

5 There is no reasonthat I would exclude one and

6 include the other.

5665

JUDGE STRICKLER: Thank you.

BY MR. JOSEPH:

Q ~ Do you recall that Dr. Blackburn

10 assertsthat the statutory standardcompels the

11 judges to ignore diversionarypromotion?

12

13

Yes, I do.

Could you explain to the judges why you

14 disagreewith Dr. Blackburn on this point?

15 So, I think, again, turn to Slide 5 in

16 my deck and let me walk through my understandingof

17 what Dr. Blackburn had to say.

18 The first quotation is summarizing -- I

19 believe his argument in his own words, and where he

20 is saying, you notice he is singling out

21 diversionarypromotion, so the one that's shifting
22 share among the companies, and he says that is not

23 relevant or doesn'tanswer the questionat issue

24 here, and he is saying how would the Webcasting

25 engage in substitutionof promotion so just what we
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1 have been talking about. You notice he says

2 affects the copyright owners, plural, so he'

3 talking about the entire industry, streamof

4 revenuesfrom their sound recordings.

So what he is saying is, look, the

6 statutorystandardis asking how would the

7 industry's revenuesbe affected, in a sense, what

8 would be the industry if it were a monopolist, what

9 would be the industry's opportunity costs and he is
10 saying that's the way we should think about it.
11 That is how he is summarizing the statute.
12 Now the reason I disagreewith him can

13 be seen in the secondquotationwhich is also from

14 Dr. Blackburn'swritten rebuttal report and here,

15 insteadof paraphrasingthe statute to our

16 advantage,he quotes it, and if you look and you

17 ask yourself what is the difference between the

18 quotation and the paraphrase,and I'm going to get

19 beyond the grammar in just a moment to talk about

20 what it means for economics.

21 If you look at the statute, it says the

22 sound recording copyright owner, singular, other

23 streamsof revenue from its sound recordingsas

24 opposedto from their sound recordings. If one

25 stepsback and looks at the standardoverall, and I
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1 suspectmost of the people in this room have that

2 memorizedby heart better than I do, it talks about

3 a willing buyer and willing seller and it then

4 talks about competitive conditions and it's saying

5 it is singular, singular in context.

5667

Well, let's get beyond grammar, what

7 does that mean to the economics? There is a big

8 difference in the point of view of economics in

9 thinking about competition. If whether you are

10 talking about a single record company competing

11 with other record companiesand asking itself, all
12 right, what are the benefits of promotion to me,

13 that is very different than asking the question,

14 well, what are the benefits of the promotion to the

15 entire industry, or to put it anotherway, the

16 first box, Dr. Blackburn is simply saying that
17 let's think about the standardas what would a

18 monopoly do and then the secondbox where he is
19 quoting the statute, it is asking what would a

20 permanencein a competitive situation do, and those

21 are obviously very different.
22 Just to wrap up, obviously, I think the

23 -- what matters, right, is what the standardsays

24 not his paraphrase,right, so I completely disagree

25 with his conclusion. I think he is asking the
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1 judges to put effective competition aside in this
2 section. He's asking them to adopt a monopoly

3 standardwhich is not my understandingof what the

4 standardis.

5668

5 Q ~ Thank you. ProfessorKatz, do you

6 recall that in Section 8A of your written direct
7 testimony, you testified that record company's

8 behavior with respectto terrestrial radio provides

9 valuable economic insights regarding the

10 appropriatestatutory rate for simulcasting?

11 A. Yes, I recall that.
12 Q- In Paragraph7 of his written rebuttal
13 testimony, ProfessorRubinfeld wrote, and I quote:

14 "Since Congresshas chosennot to create a

15 terrestrialperformancerate in sound recordings,

16 there necessarilyis no market for terrestrial
17 licenses in them. Terrestrial radio has no

18 relevanceunder the willing buyer/willing seller
19 standard.

20 Do you agree with his claim that
21 terrestrial radio has no relevancefor applying the

22 willing buyer/willing seller standardfor

23 simulcasting?

No, I don'. As I discussedin my

25 testimony, while it is true that generally, you are
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1 not going to see a market or payments for the right
2 to broadcaston terrestrial radio for sound

5669

3 recordings, there is still a lot of marketplace

4 behavior we can observeand I think appropriately
5 draw inferences from it and the central lesson I

6 draw from it is this: That even though the record

7 companiesare getting no license payments for play

8 on terrestrial radio, they spend tens and even

9 hundredsof millions of dollar a year, seeking

10 promotion on terrestrial radio, and so what that'
11 telling me, right, is that that is valuable to them

12 to get that play even though they are getting no

13 royalties from it, so what it is telling me is that
14 they perceived-- to put it in the languagewe have

15 been talking about, they perceivedthere would be a

16 negative opportunity cost or in plain English, they

17 see a benefit of getting terrestrial radio air
18 play, and then just to wrap up, that as — — again,

19 as I have talked about in my testimony, in many

20 ways, I think in all the critical ways,

21 simulcasting is like terrestrial radio and so a

22 reasonableinference is that it would have similar
23 promotional benefits and therefore, what it is
24 telling us is it does have very low opportunity

25 costs associatedwith it.
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JUDGE STRICKLER: But even though we

5670

2 see spendingon promotion -- significant spending

3 on promotion, that really doesn'tanswer the

4 question, does it, as to whether terrestrial radio

5 has a net promotion effect. It could well be that

6 the record companiessee -- at least arguably,

7 significant substitutioneffects, negative

8 substitutioneffects. They still want to mitigate

9 that by getting what:ever promotional benefits they

10 could out of it. It's a little bit like analogous

11 and saying, well, we have a trade surplus because

12 we see a lot of exports, but ignoring all the

13 imports that swamp the exports without a market.

14 How do we know?

15 THE WITNESS: What I was saying that
16 that analogy, I believe breaks down is if the

17 record company concludedthat on balance, right,
18 there could be -- I take your point certainly and

19 agree that there could be effects both directions,
20 but if the record company concludedthat on balance

21 the terrestrialair play was harmful to the record

22 company, then they should not be seeking to get

23 additional air play, right.
24 They should say, well, there is some

25 effects going some way, some the other, on balance,
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1 it's negative so I should do what I can to prevent

2 air play.

5671

JUDGE STRICKLER: Would they still want

4 to have air play just to create a change in

5 relative sharesor does your position hold even if
6 it is just an attempt to promote a change in

7 relative shares?

THE WITNESS: No. It certainly would

9 hold if it's an attempt to -- relative shares.

10 That is the point in talking about Dr. Blackburn.

11 The diversionarypromotion is going to be important

12 to a competitor so the record companiesthat are

13 competing with each other, they will count on

14 promotional diversion as a benefit and that may

15 well be the main driver of what is happeningwith

16 radio.

17 JUDGE STRICKLER: If you'e going to

18 get the substitutioneffect anyway becauseradio is
19 going to play music, some music, sort of like you

20 have lemons in it becauseyou see a substitution
21 effect, you figure, well, I might as well get

22 you'e going to get that substitutioneffect
23 anyway, shouldn't I at least try to promote my

24 music and get whateverpromotional effect out of it
25 or is there somethingwrong with that?
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THE WITNESS: No, that is exactly right
5672

2 and the way you just describedis competition,

3 right. That is exactly what is going on. When you

4 are a competitor, you'e happy if you can get

5 completely new businessand expand the market, but

6 you are also happy if what you are doing is getting
7 businessyou are taking from your rivals.

JUDGE STRICKLER: Right. I may lose X

9 percent, becausethere will be a substitution
10 effect, people will be happy to hear that music on

11 the radio and they'l go out and buy it, some

12 people, but you'l get a promotional effect to the

13 extent that if you are Sony, you may take away some

14 businessfrom Warner in the process. It is still
15 net negative, but less negative than it otherwise

16 would be.

17 THE WITNESS: Well, now we'e got to be

18 careful, becauseit is net positive for Sony. It
19 may be net negative for the industry, but that is
20 true generally with competition, right. I mean,

21 once an industry moves away from being a cartel,
22 that's why industries try to cartelize, sometimes

23 even when it is illegal, becauseprice competition

24 may be a net negative for the industry, but it's a

25 positive for consumers.

(866)448 — DEPO ~.CapitalReportingCompany.corn  2015



CapitalReportingCompany
Day21 In Re: Determinationof RoyaltyRates(Public) 05-26-2015

JUDGE STRICKLER: Let me say arguably
5673

2 Sony could lose ten percentof its sales through

3 terrestrial radio, becausethat has a sub

4 overall substitutioneffect, if we claw back, so to

5 speak, three percentby promoting successfullyand

6 taking that away from the other record companies,

7 so it's still net negative of seven, but it
8 mitigated the loss of the ten percent just because

9 terrestrial is overall substitutional, that was

10 able to shift the market sharesand make the best
11 of a bad situation. Doesn't that make sense?

12 THE WITNESS: Two things, I think we

13 are talking about as a hypothetical, let me talk
14 about becauseI think the notion that it would -- I

15 am not aware of evidence that would have that kind

16 of loss on it, but it would still be the case in

17 that situation that in thinking about its
18 opportunity costs and thinking about what it would

19 do as a -- what it's doing as a competitor and

20 here, the competition is taking the form of

21 promotion, it is going to take into account the

22 part about clawing it back.

23 So what I think economicswould say on

24 that is if there were a price, supposethere were a

25 sound recording right for terrestrial radio, Sony
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1 in thinking about what price it would charge for

2 that, would then say, well, maybe I don't like the

3 fact that radio exists overall, but when I go out

4 and negotiate, I got to take into accountmy

5 ability to claw back, that I have to compete.

5674

So I agreewith you certainly
7 hypothetically, there could be theseeffects, but

8 again, if we are asking what would the competitive

9 outcome be, they'e going to focus on that three

10 percent in your example.

JUDGE STRICKLER: Right, but the reason

12 I brought up the example, the numbers certainly are

13 arbitrary becauseI feel like it takes us back to

14 ProfessorRubinfeld's point, is that it's the

15 absenceof the market becausethere is no

16 performanceright that we can't balanceout the

17 substitutionand promotional effects, becausewe

18 just don't see them in action. We see them in

19 promotion, but we'e missing the other side of it
20 becausewe just don't see a market that will allow

21 us to decide whether any payment would otherwisebe

22 made and if so, who would pay whom.

23 THE WITNESS: See, that is where I

24 completely disagreebecauseit's a separate-- it'
25 a different point, becausesupposethere were a
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1 market, okay, the point about saying, well, in your

2 hypothetical example, the point saying, well, you'

3 lose the ten percent from the existenceof radio,

4 that would be irrelevant to bargaining over the

5 price if you are Sony. Sony would be saying to

6 themselves,I have a choice. I can refuse to

7 license to you if we are talking about the radio

8 station, fine, I'm going to lose the ten percent or

9 I can license to you and lose the ten percent.

5675

10 It's not relevant to that decision.

11 What Sony would be focusing on as a competitor is

12 the three percent that will make a difference

13 whether or not I have this deal.

JUDGE STRICKLER: If Sony is losing ten

15 percent in a hypotheticalmarket, wouldn't it say

16 I'm just not going to allow you, radio station, to

17 play my music and avoid that ten percent and divert
18 that over to record sales?

THE WITNESS: No. If I understoodyour

20 hypothetical correctly, the ten percentwould be

21 lost anyway becauseyou are saying if Sony didn'

22 do the deal, it would lose it to somebodyelse.
23 JUDGE STRICKLER: No, I am talking
24 about losing through substitution, because

25 terrestrial radio substitutesfor records.
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THE WITNESS: Then I want to step back.
5676

2 If you are saying the following, that Sony has a

3 deal where it gets play, it is going to lose ten

4 percentbut then can claw back three percent, then

5 it wouldn't engage in -- I think you still have

6 this thing -- also then would not want promotion.

7 It would just say, look, every time there is
8 anotherplay

10

JUDGE STRICKLER: I'd lose money.

THE WITNESS: Yeah, so why then it
11 wouldn't do promotion either.
12 JUDGE STRICKLER: But it would if those

13 numbers were flipped around. If you lose three

14 percentoverall by the plays, but you can claw back

15 ten percentby shifting market shares, that is what

16 I took from ProfessorRubinfeld's criticism is that
17 we don't know the answer to that.
18 We don't even know which way the money

19 would flow. Use payola in the past, but you don'

20 know if the money is flowing from the record

21 companiesto the radio stationsor from the radio

22 stations to the record companiesin a hypothetical

23 market, so how can we use -- why is Professor

24 Rubinfeld wrong? I don't see how he is wrong.

25 THE WITNESS: Because-- so first off,
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1 to the extent he says we can't tell which direction
2 it goes, I agree with that, becauseit's close to

3 zero and you can imagine it being positive or

4 negative.

5677

I think that fact alone is telling us

6 something that we are saying in the case like this
7 and I think that carries over to simulcasting, we

8 are talking about rates that are near zero because

9 we can see benefits and costs going both ways. So

10 I think actually that -- we are learning something

11 but second of all, I think it is just wrong for him

12 to say that essentiallythere is a different
13 economics for price than there is for promotion,

14 becausein the end, they are going to have similar
15 effects, they have obviously worked through

16 slightly different mechanisms,but they'e going to

17 have similar effects on the record company.

18 If the record company thinks that every

19 play hurts it, when we balance things out, it
20 shouldn't be promoting incrementalplays. That

21 would be irrational for them to do that. So the

22 fact that they want additional plays and they spend

23 money to get additional plays, says the record

24 company has concluded that on balance, it's good

25 for that record company to get more plays. If it
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1 is good for them to get more plays, that means they

2 have a negative opportunity cost and that is
3 something that is then going to push -- if they

4 were bargaining over price, it's going to tend to

5 push price downward, so I think it. is telling us

6 that they perceive there is a benefit of the

7 margin.
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So that is the part I take away from it
9 is given that the price they are getting is zero

10 and given they want to push to have it happen, it
11 is they perceive a negative opportunity cost, at
12 the individual firm level. I am not saying at the

13 industry level, but at the individual firm level,
14 the record company perceivedthere to be a negative

15 opportunity cost, and that I think is the part that
16 Dr. Rubinfeld is ignoring.

17

18

Q ~

JUDGE STRICKLER: Thank you.

BY MR. JOSEPH:

And just to be clear, a negative

20 opportunity cost is an opportunity benefit. Would

21 that be another way to put it?
22 Yeah, I'm not sure I'e ever heard

23 economistsuse that term, but yes, it is a benefit
24 at the margin.

25 ProfessorKatz, you'e explained that

(866)448- DEPO www.CapitalReportingCompany.corn  2015



CapitalReportingCompany
Day 21 In Re: Determinationof RoyaltyRates(Public) 05-26-2015

1 simulcastingcan stimulate the sales of recorded

2 music, but does it take businessaway from

3 somewhereelse?

5679

4 A. That is clearly, you know, it ' a

5 possibility. I mean, some of what it can be doing

6 is just bringing in completely new listening, but

7 the listenersalso can come from other sourcesof

8 music, and in particular, I think the evidence

9 indicates it is primarily coming from terrestrial
10 radio.

Q. What would that mean for the

12 calculation of opportunity costs?

13 Well as we have been talking about,

14 terrestrial radio right now, there isn' a right
15 that the record companieshave to charge for it.
16 When you are taking businessaway from terrestrial
17 radio, that part doesn'thave an opportunity cost

18 and, in fact, that what it's going to tell you then

19 is that if you are a record company, if you are

20 licensed to a simulcasterand you are getting a

21 royalty rate, that is going to be a benefit to you

22 that you were not getting before, becauseyou were

23 not getting paid when it's on terrestrial and now

24 you are getting paid, so another way of just saying

25 it is that element of opportunity cost would be
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1 zero.
5680

Given all of that, what would the

3 marginal cost including any opportunity costs be

4 for licensing recordings to simulcasters?

5 A. What this is saying is this discussion

6 we had so I won't belabor it, it's saying that it
7 certainly could be negative in some casesand for

8 some recordingsand some simulcasters,but it, in

9 any event, is going to be close to zero.

10 Q. Following it up to the end point, what

11 would the implications be for a willing seller of

12 having marginal costs including opportunity costs

13 near zero?

14 Again, that is going t:o affect their
15 decision calculus and they'e going to realize that
16 their costs are low so that's going to tend to have

17 lower prices all else equal. In fact, you could

18 in specific casesand I think we see that
19 essentiallyin terrestrial radio, it's the

20 equivalent of having a negativeprice even.

21 Q- Is all of this related to the efficient
22 componentpricing rule that Judge Strickler has

23 asked about?

At a core level, they are, and the

25 efficient componentpricing rule is -- a central
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1 part of it is to look at the seller's opportunity

2 cost in a situation where if an upstreamseller
3 sells to a downstreambuyer, that could affect. the

4 upstreamseller'sprofit streams from other

5 sources. So in that sense, these things are very

6 closely related.

5681

Now I do want to be clear that the

8 efficient componentpricing rule was developed

9 under situations or under the assumptionthat the

10 downstreamfirms were perfect subst.itutesfor each

11 other, which clearly I think you have heard from

12 severalwitnesses, that these are -- the downstream

13 products are differentiated. They are not

14 identical to one another and also the rational for

15 the efficient componentpricing rule envisioned

16 regulationsthat downstreamprices so that in this
17 market, it would be the streamingprices and record

18 companies, so this of course, we don't have, but

19 the basic principle of the ECPR would be that you

20 would -- the downstreambuyer would pay the

21 upstreamseller the upstreamseller'sopportunity

22 cost and what it would say here, for example,

23 applied to the case of simulcasting is that the

24 efficient componentpricing rule would tell you

25 that the price should be near zero of the
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1 simulcastingbecausethe opportunity cost and

2 marginal costs are near zero.

5682

JUDGE STRICKLER: And the reasonthe

4 opportunity cost, according to your testimony,

5 would be a zero is becausethere is such a

6 differentiation in the product that there is no

7 substitution lost, according to your testimony, if
8 the song is simulcast, it's not a loss to the

9 record company becausethey are not losing a play

10 or a subscriptionor advertisingon an interactive
11 service or on a download.

12 THE WITNESS: I wouldn't -- I want to

13 be clear. I wouldn't say that there'sno such

14 effects. There can cert:ainly be to some people,

15 but primarily, it's taking businessfrom

16 terrestrial radio and it is having thesebeneficial
17 effects on the sales of downloads and records, but

18 there could be. I would expect there is some other

19 substitutionwith other services.
20 JUDGE STRICKLER: To the effect there

21 is any of other substitutioneffects as you

22 testified, that would be where the efficient
23 componentpricing rule would be applicablebut only

24 in those situationswhere there would be that level

25 of substitution?
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THE WITNESS: I would say at a broad
5683

2 level, the rule would be applicable if you'd want

3 to take it all into account. The efficient
4 component rule would say, well, wait a minute, you

5 are mainly taking away terrestrial radio, okay, so

6 that is telling us, in that case, the opportunity

7 cost is zero, then as I say, you'd get a negative

8 componentwhen it is helping sales, and then there

9 would be some offset the other direction to the

10 extent you were taking away from on-demandsales

11 and I certainly — — on— demand streaming revenues,

12 and I think there would be some of that, but I

13 think the evidence indicates that overall, you are

14 going to end up with a net effect that's near zero.

15 JUDGE STRICKLER: You'e saying that
16 the ECPR framework works in all situations, but we

17 have to be very cognizant of measuringor

18 estimating at least what the opportunity cost as

19 your counsel pointed out, opportunity benefit would

20 be in order to apply it properly?

21

22

THE WITNESS: Exactly.

BY MR. JOSEPH:

23 Q. Now you just told the judges what the

24 ECPR might imply for a licensedprice for

25 simulcasting.
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What about noninteractiveservices
5684

2 generally?

I think an important point to keep in

4 mind in applying the ECPR to the noninteractive

5 servicesgenerally is — — again, to the extent the

6 record shows and I think it is where the evidence

7 does point us that the diversion of the

8 substitution is coming from terrestrial radio.

9 It's again telling us that the opportunity cost and

10 therefore the ECPR price is going to tend to be

11 low.

12 Q. Now you have testified that licensing
13 to a simulcasterwould have a particularly low

14 marginal cost for a record company. Are there

15 other ways in which simulcasting is different?
16 Yes, and I won' go through them, but I

17 have a -- the next demonstrativejust summarizes

18 the neutral points made in my testimony. Of

19 course, these are also points I think some other

20 witnessesmade, but as we have been talking about

21 the net promotion, we talked about earlier, so I

22 won't repeat, about non-music content playing a

23 larger role that its advertiserssupportedand then

24 as you'e heard, I guess somewhat colorfully from

25 ProfessorWeil, that there are also accounting

(866)448 — DEPO www.CapitalReportingCompany.corn  2015



CapitalReportingCompany
Day 21 In Re: Determinationof RoyaltyRates(Public) 05-26-2015

1 problems.
5685

Counsel promised me that the Court

3 would know what I meant when I said that.
JUDGE STRICKLER: You mean the word

5 colorful?
THE WITNESS: Yes. So yes, there

7 clearly are these differences.

BY MR. JOSEPH:

Q. Do you also recall that Professor

10 Rubinfeld admitted in his cross— examinationthat
11 simulcasting is di f ferent from other streaming

12 servicesand he did not take simulcasting into

13 account when conducting his benchmarkanalysis?
MR. POMERANTZ: Objection, Your Honor.

15 I think he's leading the witness at this point.
16 CHIEF JUDGE BARNETT: Sustained. He

17 needs to reframe the question.

18 BY MR. JOSEPH:

19 Q- ProfessorKatz, do you recall what

20 ProfessorRubinfeld said about whether simulcasting

21 was similar or different — — let me withdraw that
22 question.

23 Can I cut through one thing? It so

24 happensby coincidence, I read the opening pages of

25 Dr. Rubinfeld' cross-examinationfairly recently,
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1 in which counsel askedhim a set of questionsabout

2 these things. You could just say, is there

3 anything you want to say about Dr. Rubinfeld and I

4 will give you the same answer.

5 Q. Thank you, ProfessorKatz. I think the

6 record will speak for itself with respectto what

7 Dr. Rubinfeld said, but let's take into account the

8 unique characteristicsof simulcasting.

5686

What conclusion, if any, do you draw

10 from -- withdrawn.

Taking into account the unique

12 characteristicsof simulcasting, what conclusions,

13 if any, do you draw, A, for the level of an

14 effectively competitive license fee and, 8, for the

15 lower bound of reasonablenessfor a statutory rate?
16 MR. POMERANTZ: Your Honor, I think

17 this is beyond the scope of his testimony. He

18 specifically did not offer any testimony in his
19 actually, in any of his written testimony about.

20 whether simulcastingshould get the same or

21 different rate than other Webcasting.

22 I believe Mr. Josephis now trying to

23 elicit that testimony.

24 MR. JOSEPH: Your Honor, he testified
25 specifically about what he believed an effectively
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1 competitive license fee for simulcastingwould be.

2 That is the point of his boundary discussionand he

3 specifically discussedthe lower boundary.

5687

MR. POMERANTZ: I don't object to that
5 question, becausethat is not in comparisonto

6 other Webcasting, so if he specifically wants to

7 ask him what he thinks the zone of reasonableness

8 is for simulcastingrates, that is obviously

9 somethinghe did testify to in his testimony. It'
10 just the comparisonto other Webcastingwhere he

11 did not offer an opinion on that. subject.
JUDGE STRICKLER: Is there a section

13 you can point to in his written direct testimony

14 where he did make such a comparison'P

MR. JOSEPH: Your Honors, my question

16 actually didn't call for a comparison. My question

17 was asking about simulcastingand he certainly
18 speaksat length about simulcasting in

19 CHIEF JUDGE BARNETT: That's true. To

20 the extent you are not asking for a comparison, the

21 objection is overruled. Go ahead.

22 BY MR. JOSEPH:

23 Q. ProfessorKatz, what conclusions, if
24 any, taking into account the characteristicsof

25 simulcastingthat you described,do you draw, A,
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1 for the level of an effectively competitive license

2 fee for simulcastingand, B, for the lower bound of

3 reasonablenessfor a statutory rate for

4 simu.lcasting?

5688

So as I said in my written direct
6 testimony, in fact at Paragraph84, I said that the

7 — — it indicates the effectively competitive fee

8 could well be negative, in some situations for some

9 simulcastersor some recordings, but. that I did not

10 reach a conclusion that that should be a negative

11 zone of reasonablenessbecausethere clearly is
12 heterogeneityin the net promotional effects, and

13 becauseI think there is a danger of gaming the

14 system if you started to have a negative license
15 fee, what I concluded is that the lower bound of

16 the zone of reasonablenesswould be zero.

17 MR. JOSEPH: Now, Your Honors, I am

18 actually going to ask ProfessorKatz to respond to

19 some comments by ProfessorRubinfeld, which under

20 the rules, we agreedhe is entitled I believe to

21 do, so let me ask the question.

22 BY MR. JOSEPH:

23 Q- In Paragraph205 of his written

24 rebuttal testimony, ProfessorRubinfeld says that
25 he thinks simulcastingshould not pay a separate
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1 rate and he raises severalobjections. Let'

2 discuss those objections.

5689

In Paragraph206, he claims that a

4 separaterate for simulcasting is, quote,

5 "unnecessary,"becausehe believes the market will

6 take care of themselves. He says, quote: "If it
7 turns out that there are distinct segmentsof the

8 market for which this default rate, meaning a

9 single rate set by the judges is too high, it would

10 be in the interest of both the servicesand the

11 labels to negotiatea direct deal."

12

13

Do you agree?

MR. POMERANTZ: Your Honor, I believe

14 this is again beyond the scope. When Professor

15 Rubinfeld did addressthe issue in his rebuttal
16 testimony about whether simulcastersshould pay a

17 different and lower rate, ProfessorKatz never

18 expressedan opinion on that even at his

19 deposition, which was after he had seen the

20 rebuttal testimony of ProfessorRubinfeld.

21 So I think by the fact that he has

22 chosennot to of fer any testimony in his direct
23 testimony, in his written rebuttal testimony or at.

24 his deposition on whether simulcastersshould pay a

25 lower rate means that it's beyond the scope of his
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1 testimony to now addressthis in this context.
5690

JUDGE STRICKLER: Question for you:

3 Assuming that's true, and let's say that the

4 experts for the Pandorasay or don't testify about

5 the potential disparity between the two rates
6 becausethey have different opinions as to what the

7 rates should be, does that mean nobody ever

8 addressesDr. Rubinfeld's written rebuttal
9 testimony in this way on direct examinationbecause

10 each one has a starkly different rate and neither
11 one in their own particular testimony discussedthe

12 difference, even though we know the difference is
13 out there and Dr. Rubinfeld discussedit, does that
14 mean we don't hear from any of the services's
15 witnessesor the NAB expert witness with regard to

16 whether there should be a disparity?
17 MR. POMERANTZ: Absolutely. I think

18 that we have rules here they are supposedto put

19 their opinions in in writing. And by the way,

20 iHeart also has simulcast servicesand they could

21 have put something in in writing. And so if the

22 only fair way to govern the process is if they

23 don't offer the opinion in their direct, in their
24 rebuttal or in their deposition, which occurred

25 after both of those, it's only fair to us not to
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1 then allow the opinion come into evidenceat this
2 point under the guise of rebutting Professor

3 Rubinfeld.

5691

JUDGE STRICKLER: You'e saying that he

5 -- got to the last question I have here, you'e
6 saying that even though we have that rule that
7 apparentlywe'e agreedupon, that you can address

8 criticisms in your direct testimony of -- that were

9 made in rebuttal testimony against. you, this
10 doesn'tfall within that.

MR. POMERANTZ: Well, clearly,
12 ProfessorRubinfeld wasn'0 criticizing Professor

13 Katz by saying the two rates should be the same.

14 That is not a criticism of ProfessorKatz because

15 he didn't offer a contrary opinion, which was that
16 the rates should be different. So I think you'e
17 trying
18 JUDGE STRICKLER: You don't think that
19 is implicit.?

20 MR. POMERANTZ: They could have said

21 it. I mean, really, they were motivated. If they

22 thought that simulcastersshould get a lower rate
23 and they thought they had analysis that supported

24 that, they were motivated to say so in their direct
25 testimony, in their rebuttal testimony and in their
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1 deposition. I don't think it's fair to us to then

2 have it come in at this point in this way when the

3 record was clear up to this point, that neither NAB

4 or iHeart, both of whom are simulcasters,put in

5 any evidence that the simulcast rate should be

6 lower than the non-simulcastrate.

5692

CHIEF JUDGE BARNETT: Mr. Pomerantz,

8 isn't that what we are to conclude from this
9 testimony from ProfessorKatz in which he says it

10 could effectively be negative, but he doesn'twant

11 to go there. I mean, that. is lower than what

12 ProfessorRubinfeld is proposing. No?

MR. POMERANTZ: It is lower -- he'

14 proposeda lower -- NAB has proposeda lower rate
15 than ProfessorRubinfeld. I'm not disagreeingwith

16 that. The real questionhere is whether it'
17 permissibleat. this point in the proceedingto

18 allow an opinion from ProfessorKatz that the

19 simulcast rate should be lower than the

20 non-simulcastrate. If you allow that testimony

21 in, it is the only testimony that they will have to

22 point to that makes that recommendation. It has

23 not come in to any

CHIEF JUDGE BARNETT: I'm just saying,

25 isn't that what he said in his direct testimony?
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MR. POMERANTZ: We'e willing to live
5693

2 with that direct testimony. I don't think it is
3 what he said. In fact, I askedhim at his

4 depositionexpressly, are you -- is it your opinion

5 that simulcastersshould be paid a lower rate or a

6 different rate than non-simulcasters?He said no,

7 I'm not offering that opinion. That was just a

8 month ago, month and a half ago.

It was after all of the written
10 testimony, both direct and rebuttal. But to now

11 come in here and offer that opinion and then have

12 it be the only piece of evidence in front of Your

13 Honors where anybody is saying that the simulcast

14 rate should be lower, I don't think it's fair under

15 the rules.
16 CHIEF JUDGE BARNETT: Thank you, we 've

17 heard you.

18 Mr. Joseph, are we going to have a

19 witness who's going to say simulcastingrates
20 should be different?
21 MR. JOSEPH: Your Honor, we have a

22 witness that says what the simulcastingrate should

23 be, and he has testified as to what he believes the

24 economicspoint to for the simulcastingrate. That

25 is -- we don't have
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CHIEF JUDGE BARNETT: Who?

MR. JOSEPH: ProfessorKatz.

CHIEF JUDGE BARNETT: Yes. According

5694

4 to Mr. Pomerantz, he askedhim in his deposition,

5 do you think simulcastingrates should be

6 different? He said no.

MR. JOSEPH: Only becausehe didn'

8 take the position on what other rates should be.

9 The only position he's taking is simulcasting

10 rates. Now we have ProfessorRubinfeld coming

11 along directly criticizing NAB saying the NAB's

12 direct caseproposessegmentationof a different
13 sort by proposingbroadcasterspecific rates and

14 terms as Paragraph205. It implicitly suggests

15 that simulcastersshould be subject to their own

16 distinct rates, so ProfessorRubinfeld is directly
17 taking on the proposition that simulcastersshould

18 be paying a low rate.
19 JUDGE STRICKLER: But Professor

20 Rubinfeld gets to that point by comparing two

21 things. He takes a look at the testimony of

22 ProfessorKatz and he sees a lower rate. Then he

23 looked at the testimony of the other experts,

24 ProfessorShapiro and whatever other experts you

25 have on the other side, and say, these two rates
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1 are different, and I, ProfessorRubinfeld, have an

2 opinion as to the import of that and I want to

3 expressit.

5695

That's doesn'tmean any other witness,

5 in fact, also did the same thing and compared the

6 two rates as I understandMr. Pomerantz is
7 offe11ng.

MR. JOSEPH: I understandthat's his

9 argument.

10 JUDGE STRICKLER: And he's correct in

11 that, that no other witness actually did that. I

12 asked you to point to me where ProfessorKatz made

13 that comparisonand you went back to Professor

14 Rubinfeld.

15 MR. JOSEPH: It is true that he did not

16 make an explicit comparison. He made a

17 recommendationwith respectto simulcasting. That

18 carries with it potentially the implication if
19 ProfessorRubinfeld is proposing one rate and then

20 says, don't worry, the market will take care of

21 itself, ProfessorKatz should be able to respond to

22 the statementthat the market will take care of

23 itself.
24 That is actually what I was planning to

25 ask him, what his view is of ProfessorRubinfeld'
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1 claim that the market will take care of itself.
5696

JUDGE STRICKLER: Just so -- so you

3 wanted to ask him before he confirms it. You

4 wanted to ask him not about the comparisonbut

5 about ProfessorRubinfeld's point that the market

6 will take care of it, if the rate for simulcasting

7 is above the market rate? That's the question you

8 wanted to ask him?

MR. JOSEPH: If the rate the judges set
10 is above what the rate should be for simulcasting

11 that the judges should not worry about that,
12 becausesimulcasterswill be able to take care of

13 3t.
14 JUDGE STRICKLER: Just that questi on?

15 That is not a comparativequestion. That is a

16 different question. That's different. That

17 doesn'tseem to go to the objection. It doesn'

18 even go to what I thought was anotherquestion

19 coming down the pike.

20 MR. POMERANTZ: I agree with Your

21 Honor.

22 MR. JOSEPH: Actually, that was where I

23 was heading, so I may have some more questions. I

24 will have to weigh them against the objection but

25 that was where I was heading at this point.
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JUDGE STRICKLER: If that was the
5697

2 question, is your objection withdrawn as to that
3 questi on?

MR. POMERANTZ: Correct. Yes, it is.
CHIEF JUDGE BARNETT: Okay. Ask that

6 question then, Mr. Joseph.

BY MR. JOSEPH:

Q ~ In Paragraph206 of his written

9 rebuttal testimony, ProfessorRubinfeld says that
10 if it turns out there are distinct segmentsof the

11 market for which the rates set by the judges, and

12 that's paraphrasing,he said this default rate
13 which is the rate set by the judges is too high, it
14 will be in the interest of both the servicesand

15 the labels to negotiatea direct deal.

17

Do you agree?

No, I don'. I mean, this is actually
18 an error that I think Dr. Rubinfeld makes in a few

19 places, where he basically says, don't worry if the

20 rate is too high, the market will take care of it,
21 and I think the economicsof that are againsthim,

22 becauseas you heard earlier from me and so I won'

23 go over it again, and also from Dr. Shapiro and I

24 think ProfessorLichtman as well, and we will see

25 actually from SoundExchangewitnesses,we have got
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1 the shadow pulling rates up so we can't assume

2 that, oh, yes, we will just -- in the shadow of the

3 statute,we'l just bargain down.

5698

We have got the focal point effects and

5 the precedentialeffects and the change in the

6 threat points, all those things going up, and then

7 also we are bargaining situations of so-called

8 private information where even if it were the case

9 that it actually could be in the interest of both

10 the record company and simulcasterto negotiatea

11 lower rate, they may not get there because

12 bargainingdoes not always work perfectly.
13 The two sides have strategic incentives

14 to try to get the best deal for themselvesand

15 sometimesthose strategic incentives get in the way

16 of actually getting the deal, even though it would

17 be good for them, so what ProfessorRubinfeld has

18 done, is essentiallysaid, let's assumethat
19 bargainingworks perfectly, and let's assumethat
20 there is no effect in the statutory shadow, and I

21 think you'e heard quite a bit saying that those

22 are just not valid assumptions.

23 JUDGE STRICKLER: But don't Professor

24 Shapiro and also ProfessorFischel and Lichtman all
25 argue that. the reasonwhy we see the
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1 respectively, the Pandora— Merlin agreementand the

2 iHeart-Warneragreementis becausethey are below

3 the statutory rates in one case, the SettlementAct

4 rate for iHeart-Warner, the WebcasterSettlement

5 Act for the NAB rate, and the other case below the

6 Pureplay rate, it is becausethey argue the

7 statutory rate from Web III or IV, in the

8 settlementsanyway, were too high, and that's why

9 we had negotiationsand agreementsat levels that
10 were below? That is -- below those settlement

5699

11 rates which were the default rates.
12 So that sounds like it is some sort of

13 hard way that I can' fully comprehendat the

14 moment consistentwith what ProfessorRubinfeld is
15 saying that ProfessorRubinfeld is saying, oh, if
16 it's too high, you will be able to bargain for a

17 lower one. He doesn'talso say that with regard to

18 those agreements,but I am finding it odd at the

19 moment.

20 THE WITNESS: But the one thing I think

21 though, I believe you'e also heard through

22 ProfessorRubinfeld, oh, look, you just don't see

23 very many of those and they shouldn't count, and

24 I'm staying out of that issue, but we get into the

25 question of why don't we see very many agreements
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1 that are below the statutory rate, and I believe

2 what ProfessorRubinfeld would say is, oh, because

3 everything is just fine and so we shouldn't expect

4 to see very many that are coming in below and then

5 the alternative interpretationis, well, no, the

6 rate and I think for other reasonsI think the rate

5700

7 is too high, we don't see it becausethere are all
8 thesebargainingpositions and there is the problem

9 of the statute. So you could ask the question, for

10 example, why don't we see Pandorahaving agreements

11 with the majors.

12 JUDGE STRICKLER: Isn't one of the

13 problems that people have to act in real time and

14 economicsbehavior has to occur with people, the

15 old joke about the two economistswalking down the

16 street and one of them sees a $ 20 bill on the

17 ground and goes to pick it up, and the other one

18 says, don't bother, it can't be real. Why can't it
19 be real? Becauseif it was real, somebodywould

20 have picked it up already.

21 That's the problem. Somebodyhas to

22 begin the process, so I understandthe argument

23 from Pandoraand iHeart here is that the process

24 has begun here in Web IV that didn't exist in Web

25 III. It doesn'tmean it's unrealistic. It just
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1 means this is what happensto be happeningnow. Is

2 that what is going on?

5701

THE WITNESS: Well, I mean certainly I

4 think it's their position, they said, well,

5 competition has startedto break out finally and we

6 are seeing some of it, but there is still a

7 question of why aren't we seeingmore.

In a sense, take your $20 bill joke, I

9 think that in a way applies to what Professor

10 Rubinfeld is saying becausehe is saying, well,

11 look, if the rate were too high, then we would have

12 seen all these other deals so the fact that we

13 don', allows me to conclude the rate must be fine.
What I am saying is there is a lot of

15 economics that tells us we should be concernedthat
16 there are obstaclesto bargaining, and even if the

17 rate is too high, you wouldn't see these deals.

18 I am not saying the following. I

19 certainly want to be clear. I am not saying, oh,

20 if we don't see deals, that shows there must be a

21 problem. If the rate were set at exactly the right
22 level or too low, you wouldn't see deals. What I

23 am saying is I think it is a mistake and it's not

24 sound economics to say, oh, don't worry if the rate
25 is too high, everything will be taken care of,
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1 becausethere are well-identified obstaclesto
5702

2 bargainingyour way to efficiency, and in

3 particularly, the private information in all this
4 shadow.

JUDGE STRICKLER: Were there also

6 issues involving market power that would preclude

7 such agreements?

THE WITNESS: So there is -- we also

9 get to the question of whether the market for

10 licenses to noninteractiveservices, I have to get

11 the noninteractive, interactive right, to

12 noninteractiveserviceswhether that is fully
13 effectively competitive. That would be another

14 overlay on that.
15

16

JUDGE STRICKLER: Thank you.

BY MR. JOSEPH:

17 Q ~ Did ProfessorTalley have anything to

18 say about thesepoints

19 Yeah.

20

21

Q ~ that you have been discussing?

Yes. On Page 7 of my demonstratives

22 has two quotations from ProfessorTalley's written

23 rebuttal testimony, and the first one what he is

24 saying, i f you look, he is talking about the

25 introduction of statutory rate, so this is a
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1 quotationhaving to do with the -- what we have

2 been calling the shadow.

5703

The part I'd direct you to, rather than

4 going through line by line, he says, well, the

5 introduction of statutory rates, so the shadow

6 the statutesays that the parties go exclusively to

7 non-consensualtransactions,which is to say they

8 end up at the statutory rate, even if they would

9 have bargainedfor a lower rate, lower price in the

10 absenceof a statutory rate.
Ny interpretationis that's Professor

12 Talley making the point that the shadow of the

13 statutecan pull the rates up, so that you would

14 not see a rate negotiatedbelow the statute in this
15 particular case that he is talking about. So I

16 think he is also agreeingthat there is a shadow.

17 Now in the secondquotation what he is
18 doing is talking about private information, so just
19 as I said, what we mean by that is if I am the

20 buyer, I know what I am really willing to pay or I

21 know that if I pay a particular price, how much I

22 choose to play, okay, but that may have been

23 something the seller doesn'tknow and certainly the

24 seller knows about opportunity cost is and its
25 willingness, so you have private information and
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1 what he is saying here is it can reduce the set of

2 negotiatedcontractswhich is to say in particular
3 you may fail to reach a negotiationbecauseyou

4 each have private information and you'e going to

5 engage in strategicbehavior to get yourself the

6 best deal and that can lead the whole thing to

7 break down.
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Now you might say, wait a minute. I am

9 reading an awful lot in to just four lines, but

10 what I have done on the next page, becauseDr.

11 Talley unpacks that for us. What I have done here

12 is this is a Yale Law Journal article that he

13 co-authoredwith ProfessorAyers, it's cited in his

14 written rebuttal testimony, actually it's a

15 footnote either actually on the quotation I just
16 showed you or closely related to it and there, what

17 he is doin.g is explaining it in greaterdetail
18 where again, he is identifying private information,

19 how it functions as a transactionscost, and if you

20 go to after the ellipses, he is saying here again,

21 as a result of such strategicbehavior, so each

22 side is trying to get the best deal for itself it
23 can, possibly concealingor strategically
24 misrepresentingits position. Again, nothing wrong

25 with that in the context of bargaining for both
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1 sides to do it, but it can have the effeet as he

2 says to fail to detect and exploit a mutually

3 beneficial trade, which is to say you may not reach

4 a deal even though it's otherwise in your

5 interests.

5705

So he is making the same point I was

7 that there are thesebargainingpositions and why I

8 think it's not sound economics to think well, the

9 market will just take care of things.

10 Let's change subjects, ProfessorKatz

Do you recall the statementin

12 Paragraph94 of your written direct testimony where

13 you said that there is a need to break from the

14 past?

15 Yes.

16 Q ~ Let's talk about the past, specifically
17 the Web III remand decision.

18 Do you recall the primary basis for the

19 statutory rate set by the Web III remand decision

20 with the WebcasterSettlementAct agreementbetween

21 SoundExchangeand the NAB?

22 Yes.

23 Q ~ Why is there a need to break rates
24 basedon that agreement?

25 My analysis, what I mean to conclude
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1 that the rates they agreed to don't reflect the

2 rates that would be agreedto by a willing buyer

3 and a willing seller in the absenceof the statute
4 in an effectively competitive marketplace.

5 Q. At a very high level, could you please

6 tell the judges why not?

7 A. Well, most fundamentally, becauseit
8 was in the shadows of Web II and III, and I never

9 can keep them straight, like the east and west, but

10 both shadowswere there, and then also the fact
11 that SoundExchange,in my opinion, was a

12 monopolist. It was acting as a monopolist in that
13 situation.~

14 Q. Let's start with the shadows. Can you

15 elaborateon how the shadowsaffect:ed the

16 agreement?

5706

17 A. There is the shadow of Web II because

18 it -- sorry I didn't know if you were objecting.

19 MR. POMERANTZ: No. Just shifting
20 position.

THE WITNESS: Trying to be a sensitive
22 witness.

23 You have the shadow of Web II which

24 both directly in the first two years, they were

25 ultimately coveredby the agreementwere actually
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1 under the Web II rates so obviously, it affected

2 expectationsof what would happen in the absenceof

3 a deal, but also the way Web II had gone from the

4 perspectiveof NAB was quite unfavorable, the way

5 the noninteractive-- sorry, the way the

6 interactivebenchmarkwas adopted, so they saw

7 under Web II, the prospectsof paying quite high

8 rates and they were -- expectedthat that is what

9 would happen in Web III.
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10 Then you also had the shadow going the

11 other way, t:hat -- while you have this negotiation,
12 which would then get the broadcastersout of Web

13 III, SoundExchangewould still be in Web III, so

14 SoundExchange,if you recall, I think you'e heard

15 testimony, SoundExchangewanted and got the

16 agreementto be precedentialthat for

17 SoundExchange,saying, boy, we got a higher rate
18 from you, not only do we get more money from

19 broadcasters,well, that's going to help us when we

20 get into Web III, so that's the shadow you'e heard

21 so much about.

22 Q. In your written direct testimony, you

23 talk about selectionbias. What did you mean by

24 that?
25 If SoundExchangeis going to have a say
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1 in which agreementsare precedentialand which are

2 not, as a rational decisionmaker,it will chose to

3 have the ones that are precedentialand the ones

4 that are favorable to it, so we are not getting a

5 random sample of agreementscoming through.

5708

Now does it matter that Web II cast a

7 shadow on the NAB WebcasterSettlementAct

8 agreement?

Well, I think it does becauseI believe

10 that -- the analysis that -- underlying the Web II
11 decision, the interactivebenchmarkthat was used

12 there, that was developedby Dr. Pelcovits, I think

13 resulted in prices that were too high so I think

14 given the record that was before the Web II judges,

15 they had to work with what they did, but I think

16 the result of that was rates that were unreasonably

17 high and then the problem is you then have the

18 shadow of Web II influencing what happenedin the

19 WebcasterSettlementAct. agreement.

20 JUDGE STRICKLER: In light of the fact
21 that the Web III rates also -- let me recap for a

22 moment, why does that shadow not exist here? Why

23 don't we see the same sort of settlementsbefore

24 this Web IV proceedinggiven the existenceof the

25 shadow from prior determinations?
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THE WITNESS: So I don't know why it
5709

2 is. I could speculateon some reasonswhy more

3 parties are participating this time than last time,

4 but I really don't know. I wasn't part of the

5 decision.

I guess I am one of the investments

7 they'emaking in it but I wasn't part of the

8 decision on whether or not to spend the money on

9 me, so it would just be speculating.

10

12 Q ~

JUDGE STRICKLER: Thank you.

BY MR. JOSEPH:

Now the other high level point you made

13 was monopoly. You say in Paragraph68 of your

14 written direct testimony that SoundExchange

15 possessedmonopoly power.

17

What led you to conclude that?
Well, they were in a position -- again,

18 apparently, it was legally granted to them, but

19 they were in a position of being able to represent
20 the entire industry and therefore serve as a

21 monopolist in representingthe industry in this
22 negotiation.

Q ~ ProfessorRubinfeld claims in Paragraph

24 220 of his written rebuttal testimony that you

25 didn ' show that SoundExchangewas acting as what
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1 he called a classicmonopolist, and he notes that,
2 quote: "In reality, from his understanding,

3 SoundExchangewas representinga multitude of

4 interests."

5710

Does the fact that SoundExchangewas

6 representinga multitude of interestsmean that it
7 could not have exercisedmonopoly power?

8 A. So I am not quite sure what he means

9 when he says a classicmonopolist. If he means

10 sort of a textbook monopolist, where the monopoly

11 is almost like a person. It wasn't that, but real
12 world monopolies, even if it is literally a

13 monopoly in a single firm, you'e got lots of

14 different executivesthat can have different
15 opinions but in the end, it gets to act as a single

16 entity and so I just — — this thing about

17 representinga multitude of interests, I think

18 again is not sound economics.

Similarly, if what he wants me to do is
20 say, all right, it's not. acting as a classic
21 monopolist, it's acting as a classic cartel, why I

22 would accept that, but it's the same thing, a

23 cartel can have a multiple of interestsbut it is
24 still a cartel and it's not competition, so I just
25 don't see the relevanceof his saying it here,
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1 given -- they had the legal right to represent

2 thesedifferent parties and that's what they were

3 do3ng.

5711

Q. In Paragraph22 6, ProfessorRubinfeld

5 says that SoundExchangewas not a monopolist

6 because,and I quote: "NAB could negotiatewith

7 individual record companies."

Do you agree?

No. I just don't think -- they could

10 try to but it's a realistic alternativegiven that,
11 you know, I talk about these issuesagain of focal

12 points and given again that it is all legal, that
13 the majors were all on SoundExchangeboard and I

14 understandthat they were on the bargaining

15 committee, so they were able to put forth a single
16 position, and it would be pretty obvious if you cut

17 a side deal, as another firm -- if you broke off

18 from that, so I think there is a lot of reasons

19 here, good economics, you'd expect full tacit
20 collusion.
21 And again, Mr. Pomerantzdoesn'thave

22 to stand up, I'm not making any accusationsabout

23 it being illegal, but there was a structureset up

24 that I think made it an unrealisticalternative to

25 think you would go and then bargain separatelywith
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1 the majors.
5712

JUDGE STRICKLER: Isn' there an

3 economic theory that suggeststhat cartels have

4 difficulty sticking togetherbecausethere is
5 different demand facing different members of the

6 cartel, the cost structureof the market shares

7 that they have so you can split members of the

8 cartel off one from the other? In other words, you

9 can bargain with independents,or if you are seeing

10 some of that right now becausea cartel can be

11 inherently unstable, if that is -- if you accept

12 that.
13 My question is: Doesn'

14 Dr. Rubinfeld's criticism, isn't it more

15 appropriate?

16 THE WITNESS: So look, I certainly
17 would take the point that cartels can be unstable.

18 We have also seen unfortunatelynumerous examples

19 of cartels that actually are quite successfuland

20 last for many years until -- these are illegal
21 cartels. And so -- say we have amnestyprograms.

22 Well, here, it is a legal structure
23 which effectively helps the stability quite a bit
24 becausethe members can communicate. There is
25 nothing wrong with that. Also, the reasonyou see
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1 -- classically, you can see a cartel break down is

2 becauseyou try and get one member to have a lot of

3 substitution for the others and say, wait a minute,

4 I'm going to break ranks and I'm going to get all
5 this stuff going to me and that's not something

6 that -- until very recently, we have seen it all,
7 and it is something that the industry has resisted.

5713

In fact, it is something that

9 Dr. Rubinfeld himself actually has argued against,

10 becauseif I understandit correctly, his position

11 is that the majors are must-havesfor

12 noninteractiveservicesand so then you wouldn't be

13 able to break away and go get, say, oh, look,

14 undermine the cartel. We will bring all your

15 businessto you but he is saying you can't do that

16 anyway.

17 JUDGE STRICKLER: So would you

18 characterizethe independentor the direct
19 agreementsbetween Pandoraand Merlin and iHeart

20 and Warner and some of the other 27 or 28

21 agreementsthat we have seen as examples of

22 contractsthat are undermining a cartel?
23 THE WITNESS: So I would want to be

24 careful about the languageof the cartel. I am

25 saying, in a particular case, SoundExchangewas
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1 acting like a cartel. I don', as I sit here and

2 understand,I don' want to say that the industry

3 today overall is acting as a cartel.

5714

JUDGE STRICKLER: I don' mean by that

5 as an illegal cartel.
THE WITNESS: If you just mean, do I

7 think it's undermining classic coordination, do I

8 believe we have seen classic coordination in the

9 past, yes, it seems to me from what I understandin

10 the agreements,that that is what is starting to

11 happen.

12

13

JUDGE STRICKLER: Thank you.

BY MR. JOSEPH:

14 Q. In Paragraph223 of his written
15 rebuttal testimony, ProfessorRubinfeld also claims

16 that the fact that NAB and actually also SiriusXM

17 were able to negotiatediscounts from the

18 prevailing statutory rates, the Web II rates, shows

19 that SoundExchangedid not unilaterally dictate
20 rates and terms.

21 Do you agree that this shows

22 SoundExchangedid not have monopoly power?

23 No, I don'. Let's be clear about two

24 things. One, my understandingis the discountsat

25 the front end came with higher prices at the back
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1 end so it is not like saying a discount -- you'

2 normally think and say, oh, I got a discount on my

3 car and I paid less for it.

5715

They are saying they agreed to shift
5 the time pattern of the payments. Now it is the

6 case, though, there were some -- we call them

7 concessions,there were agreementsas I understand

8 it, it was not the case that SoundExchangehas said

9 here is the deal, here is every last term of it,
10 that's it. There was some back and forth.

None of that though underminesthe

12 conclusion that they were monopolists. If you

13 think about the case I just mentioned, the case I

14 testified last year American Express. American

15 Express is found to have market power. American

16 Express engagesin a lot of negotiations.
17 Microsoft, obviously, one of the most familiar

18 antitrust casesever, they were found to have

19 market power. They bargain with their customers.

20 Bargaining with your customersand having some of

21 the give and take can even be a form of price

22 discrimination in a way to get additional monopoly

23 profits, so the mere fact that your customer asks

24 for somethingand you say, okay, I will give that
25 to you, particularly if that is going to help you
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1 get more money, the fact that you do that doesn'

2 show you lack monopoly power. It shows you are

3 economically rational.

5716

JUDGE STRICKLER: Is bargainingby a

5 monopolist also consistentwith what Professor

6 Talley talked about, about. trying to obtain private
7 information in order to price appropriately?

THE WITNESS: I don't remember

JUDGE STRICKLER: I was obviously

10 referring to the comments that you had in your

11 demonstrative.

12 THE WITNESS: The private information

13 -- certainly, as part -- referring back to that, it
14 certainly is part of a real world bargaining

15 process. You would try to figure out what is it
16 you'e -- what's really going on with the other

17 side of the bargain, and you may learn some things

18 through the give and take that may tell you some

19 things about the private information on the other

20 side, absolutely.

21

22

BY MR . JOSEPH:

ProfessorRubinfeld also claims that
23 the fact that NAB enteredinto the deal insteadof

24 litigating or just taking the result of Web III in

25 his words, quote: "Suggeststhat they believe that
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1 the rates reasonablyrepresentedthe statutory
2 willing buyer/willing seller rate." That is in

3 Paragraph227 of his testimony.

5717

Does economics tell us whether that is
5 a rational conclusion for ProfessorRubinfeld to

6 draw?

I think that is an unfounded

8 conclusion. I think what economics tells you is

9 that NAB and its negotiatorsand then the stations,
10 the broadcasterssigning on to the agreement,

11 believed that that was better for them than the

12 alternative. They believed it was better than to

13 continue to pay the two years of the Web II rates
14 and it was better than what they expectedto happen

15 in Web III, but that is a very different statement

16 than saying that they thought it was reasonableor

17 had met the statutory standard.

18 It just — — it meant that they concluded

19 it was in their economic self-interestto go with

20 the bargain insteadof go with the status quo.

21 Now in Paragraph212 of his written

22 rebuttal testimony, ProfessorRubinfeld states
23 that, quote: "He sees no sound basis for such a

24 dramatic departure from the CRB's rate setting
25 precedent,"and where he says "such," he is
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1 referring to the services' various proposals
5718

Do you agree with ProfessorRubinfeld?

Well, as I talked about it, I disagree

4 with that becausewe talked about — — did I think we

5 learned from — — particularly when we are talking
6 about with simulcasting, that we learned from the

7 experienceof terrestrial radio that it is
8 informative and it tells us that we would expect to

9 see an effectively competitive rate close to zero,

10 and I think far below what we have seen in the

11 statutory rates, and then as we'e just been

12 talking, I think that there is some serious

13 problems with the Webcastersettlementagreement,

14 and that that is leading -- led to high rates and

15 so there is a need to break with it and then as

16 I'e also testified earlier, I actually think

17 Dr. Rubinfeld's analysisproperly construedand

18 corrected, says that there is a need to break.

19 That he hasn'tmade the case to stay with it.
20 Q. ProfessorRubinfeld assertsin

21 Paragraph214 that if it did not turn — — I'm sorry,

22 that if it did turn out that the statutory rate was

23 too high, private negotiationswould take care of

24 the problem.

25 Do you agree with that as a general
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1 proposition?
5719

No, again, I mean, this is the point we

3 were talking about in a somewhatdifferent context

4 specifically for simulcastinga few minutes ago.

I think it matters a lot whether or not

6 the judges get the right rate, and if it is too

7 high, I don't believe that the market will just
8 automatically take care of itself .

think that will be a good thing given

10 on how much effort everyonehas put into this
11 proceeding.

12 MR. JOSEPH: Thank you, ProfessorKatz.

13 Thank you, Your Honors. I have no further
14 questions.

CHIEF JUDGE BARNETT: Thank you.

16 Morning recessfor 15 minutes.

17

18

19

(A short recesswas taken.)

CHIEF JUDGE BARNETT: Pleasebe seated.

JUDGE STRICKLER: These book titles
20 drive me crazy. Direct, cross.

21 MR. POMERANTZ: We were just talking
22 about that. Cross, redirect, recross.

23 CHIEF JUDGE BARNETT: Oh, I forgot to

24 mention to the reportermy realtime is not working

25 so when you have a chance.
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JUDGE STRICKLER: Before you begin, I
5720

2 wanted to follow up on some of the direct
3 examinationbriefly.

One of the concerns I had when I was

5 reading your testimony and I kept making notes as I

6 was going through, you kept repeatingan

7 appropriatepoint and by way of example in

8 Paragraph18 of your written direct testimony, you

9 say that "an effective competition standard

10 resolves the indeterminacyidentified above that we

11 talked about and it does so by identifying prices
12 near marginal or incrementalcosts as the

13 appropriatelevel. That.'s sort. of standard

14 microeconomictheory, but every time I saw that I

15 had a note to myself or in the margin saying has he

16 consideredthe fixed-cost issue or the fixed-cost

17 problem. And, again, in basic private goods,

18 microeconomictheory, fixed costs or sunk costs you

19 don't worry about them. You'e got a rising
20 marginal cost curve, so fixed costs are going to

21 get covered to the extent they can, if demand is
22 appropriate.
23 But I kept looking, and then, finally,
24 I got to Paragraph29 of your written direct
25 testimony on Page 20, and I wrote "finally." You
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1 wrote: "The theoreticalconditions of perfect
2 competition often are not satisfied in actual

3 markets. In particular, the presenceof economies

4 of scale, marginal costs will be below average

5 costs. So the pricing of all of its products at

6 marginal costs causesa supplier to incur losses."

5721

I thought, okay, now we'e got it
8 addressed,and the way you addressedit, and

9 appropriatelyso, was by making referenceto

10 product. differentiation and that by differentiating
11 a product, a company -- a supplier can create, if
12 you will, sort of an island of limited market power

13 or Chamberlain, like, differentiatedmonopolist

14 competition and make profit with prices above its
15 marginal costs.

16 The problem I have is this, and maybe

17 you can help me out. Product differentiationwill

18 allow a price to go above marginal costs to the

19 extent there'sa demand for the differentiation and

20 it operateson the demand side of the market. So

21 whether or not product differentiation is
22 sufficient to cover fixed costs is really just a

23 matter of good fortune and allows the -- would

24 allow a market with declining long-run costs to

25 survive becauseif there'snot enough profit in the
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1 differentiation it doesn'tcover fixed costs. And
5722

2 in this particular market, with intellectual
3 property, some costs are different, aren't they,

4 becausewe have recurring sunk costs?

That's a problem. It's not atypical.
6 Sunk costs build a large factory or a large plant
7 and then you hope you cover the costs constantly.

8 Companieshave to constantlysink new costs in in

9 terms of artists and repertoireand recordings

10 costs and the like that are not necessarily
11 marginal but fixed.

12 How do we make certain that fixed costs

13 are coveredand properly apportionedin the

14 noninteractivemarket, assumingthat structureof

15 this market?

THE WITNESS: Okay. So I'l try to

17 addressall the points you raisedbecauseyou

18 raised several.

19 So, first, let me just start with

20 and I will talk about fixed costs and the issue of

21 covering them, but do observe, I think, Professor

22 Shapiro brought it up in his testimony, and I

23 confess I can't rememberwhether it was his

24 rebuttal or his direct, given it startedto merge.

25 But this question of whether the fixed costs -- in
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1 fact, now it is a part that large for the record

2 companies. There's clearly the case that the

3 marginal costs are very low, so it's declining

4 averagecosts. I agreewith that., But there is a

5 questionwhether, certainly, he raised about

6 whether the -- some absolutesensethe costs are so

7 high becausethe costs of recordingshave gone down

8 due to technologicalchange and distribution is
9 different.

5723

10 But holding that aside, that I just
11 want to just for the record note that I did observe

12 that he raised issuesabout how large they are. If
13 they are there, I agree that they have a viable

14 industry. They'e going to have to be covered, and

15 I mentionedsome of this also a few paragraphs

16 later in my report. In thinking about record

17 companies, and we do need to think about that
18 they'emaking money from noninteractivebut also

19 from interactive streamingand then from download

20 salesand CDs. So you have to look at all of those

21 sources.

And -- but, ultimately, I mean, what we

23 generally do in the U.S. economy, and this includes

24 industrieswith very large fixed costs particularly
25 like an operating system is we rely on the
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1 competitive outcome and, you know, firms -- i f the

2 firms can' cover it, they end up failing. But

3 that firms that can successfullyoffer the product

4 that is differentiated, we have. And you'e right,
5 it doesn'tcome out as sort of the perfect outcome

6 that the omniscient planner would get, but we'e
7 made the judgment as a society and I think it's a

8 judgment economistsgenerally support that this is
9 the best we can do and we rely on market forces

10 becauseif we try to second-guessthem, it's not

11 going to work.

5724

JUDGE STRICKLER: I understandand

13 agreewith that point.
14 We also have a statute to deal with.

15 And as we discussedbefore, we tried to deconstruct

16 what ProfessorTalley criticized and he quoted the

17 statute. We have a statute that talks about our

18 concernabout preservingthe revenuestreamsof the

19 record companies. And as you just pointed out, the

20 way it would work with an operatingsystem if the

21 demand is such, that. even with whatever

22 differentiation you can do with regard to the

23 product, you can't cover your cost, it fails, it
24 goes out of businessor it retrenches

25 significantly.
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Given the statute, we may be in a
5725

2 position where we have to be certain that, first of

3 all, obviously, that doesn'thappen or that a level

4 of retrenchmentitself might not be appropriate.

How, if at all, should the

6 noninteractivemarket cover its, for lack of a

7 better phrase, fair share of these fixed costs?

8 Why should it fall only to downloads, CDs and

9 interactive services to bear a portion of the fixed

10 costs?

THE WITNESS: Well, see, that's where I

12 think the effective competition standardhelps us

13 because-- and, again, fair -- and economistsdo

14 talk about fairness even though they'e fond of

15 saying they don'. But one view of what fairness
16 is, is we see what the effect -- what allocation of

17 fixed costs, if you want to put it that way, would

18 emerge from in effect a competition?

19 And, obviously, I'l state -- I will
20 state obvious things. One is it's up to you and

21 your colleaguesto make the decision and it's not

22 my position to offer a legal opinion, but I would

23 say as an economist I disagreewith the

24 interpretationof the statuteas saying that it
25 your obligation to preservethe revenuesof the
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1 record industry; but, instead, I interpret it, the

2 secondclause, to say take it into account

3 sorry -- I guess clause one about the substitution
4 and promotion and that ' something that would be

5 taken into account in an effectively competitive

6 market, that if a record company was selling a

7 license and said, wait a minute, by selling this
8 licensewe'e going to lose a ton of profitable
9 sales somewhereelse, it would take that into

10 account and the effectively competitive price would

11 be higher. And I think that's the appropriateway

12 to think about it and I think that does -- you

13 know, in one senseof the word helps preserve

14 record industry revenues. It takes five times. It
15 takes them into account, but it's different, I

16 guess, than saying, well, there'ssome absolute

17 level they'e guaranteed. Let them have -- and

18 that's how I as an economist, and not offering a

19 legal opinion, understandthe statute to say let'
20 look at what comes out of effective competition,

21 how much they would bear.

5726

22 Now, as I said, a record company

23 competing would have to take that into account and

24 I think the case we'e talking about steering,
25 which you'e heard a lot about, to the extent that
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1 steering is limited by product differentiation,
2 that would then give them a greaterability to

3 cover their fixed costs, you know, charging a

4 higher price and that actually would give them

5 incentives to try to have more distinct music and

6 product differentiation.

5727

So I think that that -- you know,

8 that's a reasonableway to do it and I think it'
9 one that's supportedby economics. But, really, it

10 comes down to saying -- getting back to the

11 effectively competitive price will have built into
12 it some contribution margin, which will go towards

13 the overall costs, and that that's an appropriate
14 way to think about it, whatever falls out of that.
15 JUDGE STRICKLER: And if that
16 contribution isn't sufficient, it might, in certain
17 markets, in this particular market say

18 hypothetically cause a retrenchmentin the amount

19 of resourcesdevoted to the developmentof artists'0

music and then effectively work with the

21 competitive market might have less music and less
22 sound recordings to be more specific than what

23 otherwisebe the casebecausethe overheadcosts

24 and fixed costs simply can't all be recoveredso

25 there has to be -- there might, which is
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1 theoreticalat a high level, people are saying

2 might be a situation where the supply in the market

3 for sound recordingswould retrench.

5728

THE WITNESS: So I would say that'
5 certainly an issue that the record companieshave

6 raised and it's certainly, as an overall

7 theoreticalpossibility at some point, if
8 profitability falls low enough to stop investing.

Now, I want to point out on that, to

10 raise the issue, there is a big difference between

11 that and looking at industry revenuesbecauseof

12 the fact at least one economisthas looked at
13 what's happenedwith the record industry and asked,

14 well, do we see evidence that its revenueshave

15 fallen and the industry revenueshave

16 contributed

17 JUDGE STRICKLER: You'e talking about

18 in this proceedingor somewhereelse?

THE WITNESS: No. I'm saying that
20 you'e asking about can these things happen, and I

21 don't believe it's in evidence in this proceeding.

22 Any found effect that the supply of music hadn'

23 fallen becauseyou'e got -- we'e got a few

24 things. There's literature on some of this where

25 economistsidentified the following costs and also
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1 identifying other revenuestreams. And so, for

2 example, there'sbeen a shift to charging more for

3 concertsas a way of supportingartists.

5729

So one of the -- in responseto your

5 question, one of the things can happen if you'e
6 identified, possibly, retrenching. The other thing

7 is actually redoubling your efforts to seek other

8 revenuestreamsor engage, actually, in more

9 investmentsand innovation to try to figure
10 outweighs to increaserevenues.

JUDGE STRICKLER: Do you -- I don'

12 know how I want to ask you this.
13 Asking thesequestionsabout fixed

14 costs and the need to cover recurring sunk costs,
15 do you see any evidence in this record, in this
16 proceedingthat gives us data with regard to costs'?

17 After all, we'e not a public utility commission.

18 We'e not setting reasonablerates of return.
19 Do you see any evidence that allows us

20 to, with any level of particularity, identify costs

21 and profits and any particular sunk costs?

22 THE WITNESS: And you'e saying in

23 particular for the record, record companies?

24

25

JUDGE STRICKLER: In this proceedings.

THE WITNESS: So there is certainly
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1 there'spieces of evidence. I believe Professor

2 Shapiro was talking about a specific spreadsheet

5730

3 and -- I mean, there are various pieces, but I

4 certainly don't -- as I sit it, I certainly don'

5 know enough to put together any sort of detailed
6 model of the record companiesand their
7 profitability and what their costs. You know,

8 again, I'e seen some of those numbers but not at

9 the level, assuming I could put together a model

10 and tell you this is what's going to happen and

11 here'swhat, you know, their — — here'swhat their
12 profits really are and here's how changing this
13 rate is going to affect overall.

15

JUDGE STRICKLER: Thank you.

MR. POMERANTZ: Your Honor, before I

16 start my cross-examination,if I can just inquire.
17 There were some briefs filed over a week ago

18 relating to Apple and whether we would be allowed

19 to ask questionsof our witnesseswho will be

20 coming in later this week. And it will be helpful

21 in our preparation-- they'e not coming in today,

22 but it will be helpful in our preparationefforts
23 to know whether we'e going to be allowed to ask

24 them questionsrelating to the Apple agreements.

25 CHIEF JUDGE BARNETT: We 'll let you
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1 know.
5731

MR . POMERANTZ: Okay . Thank you .

3 CROSS— EXAMINATION BY COUNSEL FOR SOUNDEXCHANGE

BY MR. POMERANTZ:

Q ~ ProfessorKatz, in your written direct
6 testimony, you propose a Zone of Reasonablenessfor

7 simulcastingrates, correct?

8 A. Well, actually, it's a little less
9 precise than that. I talk about, I think, you

10 know, a lower bound of Zone of Reasonablenessand

11 then I talk about getting some insights into what

12 an upper bound would be, but — — so, as I say, a

13 little fuzzier than that, but broadly yes.

14 Q ~ Okay. And you say that the lower bound

15 of that zone is near zero, correct?

16 A. Yes.

17 Q ~ And you say that 13 percent of revenues

18 would be an unreasonablyhigh number for the upper

19 bound, correct?

20 Yes, basedon partly comparing it with

21 SDARS, yes.

22 Q. Okay. And so, in your view, the rate
23 for simulcastersshould be set somewherebetween

24 near zero and 13 percent of revenues,correct?

25 That's what I said about the Zone of
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1 Reasonableness.Now, as you know, I did not offer
2 a specific statutoryproposal and I have some

3 now I have some concernsabout how you would

4 measurethe revenues;but yes, that's what I think

5 conceptually.

5732

Q. All right. And so just to be clear,
7 you did not proposea specific rate within that
8 range, correct?

10 Q-

That's correct.

Now, if you could turn to Page 52 of

11 your written direct testimony, Paragraph80 -- and

12 I'm sorry. I have put a binder in front of you.

13 It's also in the binder that you have there, so

14 either one. But in my binder that I handed to you,

15 it's behind Tab 2.

16 A. Okay. I'l use this binder because

17 it's smaller.

18 Q ~

19

All right.
CHIEF JUDGE BARNETT: Paragraphnumber

20 again, and page?

21 NR. POMERANTZ: 80. Page 52, Paragraph

22 80.

23 CHIEF JUDGE BARNETT: Thank you.

And for the record, that is Exhibit

25 4000, which has been admitted?
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MR. POMERANTZ: Yes, Your Honor.

BY MR. POMERANTZ:

5733

And in the last sentenceof Paragraph

4 80, you state: "Given the information currently

5 available to me, I cannot determinean exact value

6 of the upper end of the Zone of Reasonableness,but

7 I expect to be able to make a more precise
8 determinationafter reviewing evidence that is
9 introducedby other parties or otherwise obtained

10 in the discoveryprocess."

12

Do you see that?

Yes, I do.

13 Q. And you understandthat after you

14 submitted this direct testimony in October of 2014

15 and before you submitted your rebuttal testimony at

16 the end of February of 2015 a lot of marketplace

17 agreementswere exchangedby the parties in the

18 discovery process?

19 You'e aware of that, correct?

20 Yes, I am.

21 Q- And you'e aware that those agreements

22 involved both independentrecord labels and major

23 record labels, correct?

24 Yes.

25 And you'e aware that there were dozens

(866)448 — DEPO www.CapitalReportingCompany.corn  2015



CapitalReportingCompany
Day 21 In Re: Determinationof RoyaltyRates(Public) 05-26-2015

1 of agreementsproduced that related to interactive
5734

2 services, correct?

A. Whether the -- I don't recall if the

4 agreementswere all producedor not. It'
5 certainly in the aspectsof the agreementswere

6 introduced. I don't recall looking at -- oh, I

7 certainly looked at some -- I don't remember about

8 dozens, but yes, they were introduced.

All right. And you'e aware that
10 agreementsbetween record labels and noninteractive
11 servicessuch as iHeart, Pandora, and Apple were

12 also producedduring the discovery process,

13 correct?

Yes, subject to there was some debate,

15 I guess, among some about Apple; but yes, I 'm aware

16 of those being introduced.

17 And you reviewed some of those

18 agreementsbetween the time of your direct
19 testimony and your rebuttal testimony, correct?

20 That's correct.
21 Q- And your staff reviewed some of those

22 agreements,too, correct?

23 A. Yes.

But after receiving those agreements

25 and reviewing those agreements,you did not amend
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1 your written direct testimony to make a more

2 precisedeterminationof the bounds of the Zone of

3 Reasonableness,correct?

5735

That's correct.
And you didn't do so in your rebuttal

6 testimony either, correct?

7 A. In terms of specifying a new zone,

8 that's correct:. I think -- certainly, information

9 in my rebuttal testimony that I think is relevant

10 to the issue, but I did not, proposea refined Zone

11 of Reasonableness.

15 Q.

Now, you understandthat NAB had

(Interruption.)
BY MR. POMERANTZ:

ProfessorKatz, you understandthat the

16 NAB has proposeda specific rate of .0005 in this
17 matter, correct?

18

19

A. Yes.

Q ~ Can you identify a single marketplace

20 agreementin which any record company has agreedto

21 a per-play rate of .0005?

22 If I'm recalling correctly, and it.'s
23 not something I have offered, I believe that that'
24 what iHeart's expertshave testified that Warner

25 agreed to with iHeart.
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Well, the . 0005 rate is not set forth
5736

2 anywhere in the iHeart—Warner agreement,correct?

And if you'e asking me the question

4 does that number appear in print, my understanding

5 is it doesn'. If you'e asking a question do

6 how people testified that they believe that that is
7 the effective rate of the contract, my

8 understandingis that's what they testified to

9 unless you correct my memory.

10 Q ~ Are you aware of any internal document

11 at iHeart or at Warner that sets forth the . 0005

12 rate?
13 I'm not aware of documents. There

14 could be. I haven't reviewed their internal
15 documentson that issue.
16 And what you'e testifying to is what I

17 think ProfessorFischel referred to as his

18 incrementalrate analysis, correct?

19 I'm not testifying to his analysis

20 It's what I'e identified -- I have identified that
21 they said that number. I f that ' what he ' calling
22 his incremental rate analysis, then that ' what it
23 1.S .

24 Q ~ So putting aside what you recall seeing

25 from ProfessorFischel regarding the iHeart —Warner
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1 deal, have you seen any other marketplaceagreement

2 in which any record company has agreed to a

3 per-play rate of .0005?

5737

Q ~ Can you identify a single marketplace

6 agreementother than the iHeart-Warnerone,

7 according to ProfessorFischel, in which any record

8 company has agreed to a per-play rate anywhere

9 close to .0005?

10 We'e going to get into the definition
11 of "close," but if you mean within, like, you know,

12 0007, no.

8?

14 No.

15 So I can't remember

9, 10?

Well, that's the question. I can'

18 rememberwhen Pandoranumbers start kicking in.

Okay. But, as you sit here today, you

20 can't think of any marketplaceagreementin which

21 any record company has agreedto a per-play rate
22 double .0005, can you?

23 A. That's correct.
24 Q ~ If you could turn to Page 62 of your

25 written rebuttal test:imony, Paragraph95. This is
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1 your conclusionabout the Zone of Reasonableness,

2 correct?

5738

Yes.

Q ~ And, in particular, you'e offering

5 this Zone of Reasonablenessfor simulcasting,

6 correct?

Yes.

Q ~ So let's turn to what you mean by the

9 term "simulcast." You would agree that a

10 transmissionis a simulcast if the Internet
11 transmissionis exactly the same content as what is
12 played on the terrestrial radio station, correct?

13 Yes.

14 So if it has the same music and the

15 same DJs and the same advertisements,that's a

16 simulcast, correct?

17 Yes.

18 Q. And you would agree that if the

19 Internet transmissionswappedout all of the music

20 and all of the DJs, that that would not be a

21 simulcast, correct?

Yeah, that's certainly not how I was

23 thinking of it as a simulcastwhen writing my

24 report, yes.

25 JUDGE FEDER: Excuse me, Counsel.
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We'e talking about Paragraph95 in the
5739

2 written direct testimony?

MR. POMERANTZ: Correct:. Correct.

JUDGE FEDER: You had said written

5 rebuttal.
MR. POMERANTZ: Oh, did I?

I am sorry. Yes, written direct. I

8 apologize. Page 52 of the written direct
9 testimony. My apologies.

10

12

13

14

15

BY MR. POMERANTZ:

Is that where you were looking at?

Yes, it was.

MR. POMERANTZ: Thank you, Your Honor.

BY MR. POMERANTZ:

So what we know is that if it's exactly

16 the same programming on the simulcastas

17 terrestrial, you view that as a simulcast. But if
18 you swap out all of the music and all of the DJs,

19 that is not a simulcast, correct?

20 Yes.

21 Q ~ By the time you submittedyour direct
22 and your rebuttal testimony, you hadn' thought

23 about where between these two examplesyou would

24 draw the line betweena simulcast and a

25 non-simulcasttransmission,correct?
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1 A. If you mean that as a -- drawing a

2 bright dividing line, that's correct. I mean, I

3 certainly had something in mind about. simulcasting,

4 but I did not engage in a line-drawing exercise.

5 Q. Well, you said in your deposition that
6 you hadn't even thought about where to draw that
7 line, correct?

8 A. As I say -- just said, I did not engage

9 in a line-drawing exercise, that's correct.
10 Q ~ Even though you were proposing a Zone

11 of Reasonablenessthat applied only to something

12 called "simulcasting," correct?

5740

13

Q.

Correct.

Now, you were aware that technology

15 exists that allows a simulcasterto change the

16 music or the advertisementsfrom a terrestrial
17 broadcastwhen it's transmittedvia the Internet,
18 correct?

19

20 Q ~

That's my understanding,yes.

And you, yourself, have not proposed

21 any particular definition of simulcast in your

22 testimony, correct?

23 A. That ' correct, I have not proposeda

24 def ini tion to the j udges.

25 But you were aware that NAB has
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1 proposeda definition of simulcast, correct?

2 A. I am now, yes.

3 Q. All right. So if you turn to Tab 6 in

4 the binder I handed to you, and if you look at the

5 first page of Tab 6, which is SX 283001.

5741

MR. POMERANTZ: I actually think this
7 is not in evidenceyet. I'm not sure if it
8 formally has to be in evidence, but I will offer it
9 into evidenceat this point.

10

12

MR. JOSEPH: No objection.

CHIEF JUDGE BARNETT: 283 is admitted.

(SoundExchangeExhibit No. 283 was

13 admitted into evidence.)

14

15

BY MR. POMERANTZ:

You understandthat this document is
16 NAB's proposedrates and terms for this proceeding?

17

18

A. Yes, that is my understandingnow.

Q. All right. And if you turn to the

19 secondpage and in the middle of the page there is
20 a paragraphthat begins "broadcast

21 retransmissions."

22

23 A.

Do you see that?

Yes, I do.

Do you understandthat to be NAB's

25 proposeddefinition of what a simulcasteris?
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1 A.

2 at it.
You'l need to give me a minute to look

5742

Yes, I recall -- with two

4 qualifications that came up when you and I

5 discussedit in deposition. If you'e saying that
6 broadcastretransmissionis a synonym for

7 simulcast, which I would expect. it to be, then yes.

8 And then subject to the question of whether there

9 are other parts of the document that either provide

10 context or elaborateon this, but this is defining

11 at least in part what it means to be a broadcast

12 retransmission.

13 Q ~ And, therefore -- and that's what. you

14 loosely refer to as a simulcast, correct?

15 A. Yeah, I believe it's talking about the

16 same thing.

17 Q- Okay. And you see in this definition
18 there's four subparts in the latter half of the

19 definition, including what I'm going to direct you

20 to, Subpart 4.

21

23 Q-

Do you see that?

Yes, I do.

All right. And NAB is proposing that a

24 broadcastretransmissioninclude occasional

25 substitutionof other programing that does not
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1 change the characterof the content of the

2 transmission.

5743

Do you see that?

Yes, I do.

You do not have an opinion as to what

6 the phrase "occasionalsubstitutionof other

7 programming" means, correct?

I certainly don't have a precise

9 numerical opinion. I may have a view that it would

10 mean less than half and, you know, some qualitative
11 view, but I do not have a numerical view.

12 Q. Well, you don't have a view as to

13 whether "occasional"means somethingcloser to 49

14 percentor 1 percent, correct?

15 That's correct.

Q. And if we look at the phraseat the end

17 of that definition, that Clause 4, which says, "the

18 characterof the content of the transmission,"you

19 haven't offered an opinion about what that phrase

20 means, correct?

21 That's correct.

Q- And so it's fair to say that while you

23 of fer a Zone of Reasonablenessfor somethingcalled

24 "simulcasting," you do not offer a definition of

25 what qualifies as a simulcast, correct?
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And if you'e asking have I put
5744

2 stateda definition of simulcasting, no, I have not

3 statedone.

All right. Now, you also have not

5 proposeddifferent rates for simulcastersversus

6 custom Webcasterslike Pandoraor others, correct?

I have not made a specific rate
8 proposal for anyone.

Q ~ All right. And you understandthat
10 ProfessorShapiro has not testified that
11 simulcastersshould be paid at a different rate
12 than nonsimulcasterssuch as Pandora, correct?
13 I'm not sure that is correct, actually.
14 I have thought, maybe I'm wrong, that Professor

15 Shapiro, for example, thought that it would be

16 appropriateto have a music adjustmentor a content.

17 adjustmentfor simulcasters,but I may be

18 misremembering,but -- so as I sit here, I'm

19 certainly not preparedto testify that he thinks

20 there should be no difference.
21 Q ~ Well, you -- you'e aware that
22 ProfessorShapiro offered a rate proposal in this
23 case, correct?

24 Yes. I believe he offered a multi-part
25 rate proposal.
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He made a distinction between
5745

2 ad— supportedservicesand subscriptionservices,

3 correct?

I think that ' correct. I haven'

5 looked at it recently, but that's my recollection.
But his rate proposal makes no

7 difference — — no — — doesn' make any distinction
8 betweensimulcastersand nonsimulcasters,correct?

9 A. Again, the part I'm having difficulty
10 is I don't recall whether or not he talked about

11 having an adjustment for the difference in

12 non—music contentsor not.

13 Q. And you'e not aware of Professor

14 Fischel or ProfessorLichtman offering a proposed

15 different rate for simulcastersthan

16 nonsimulcasters,correct?

17 I don't recall, as I sit here, what

18 their specific proposal was.

19 And you'e not aware of Professor

20 Rubinfeld offering a different rate for

21 simulcastersversus nonsimulcasters?

22 That one, I'm quite sure about. He did

23 not.

24 Q ~ Now, i f a lower rate applied to

25 simulcastersthan to nonsimulcasters,that might
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1 createcertain incentives and disincentivesfor
5746

2 simulcasters, correct?

In theory, yes.

If innovating the simulcast service

5 would result in having to pay a higher rate, an

6 economically rational simulcasterwould take that
7 higher rate into accountbefore deciding whether to

8 innovate, correct?

If such an innovation existed, if you

10 were rational, you would take that into account,

11 yes.

12 Q ~ Now, you conclude that the lower bound

13 of the Zone of Reasonablenessfor a statutory rate
14 for Webcasting — — sorry, for simulcasting is near

15 zero, correct?

16 Correct.

17 Q. And you reach this conclusionbasedon

18 your analysis of terrestrial radio stations,
19 correct?

20

21 Q-

I see that's the primary basis, yes.

And your belief that simulcastsare

22 largely the same as terrestrial radio broadcasts,

23 correct?

24

25 Q-

Based on my review of the record, yes.

Now, terrestrial radio stationshave
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1 the right to play recordingswithout getting the

2 permission from the owner of those recordings,

3 correct?

5747

That's my understandingfrom music

5 recordings. I don't know if that's true generally,

6 but...
And that's becausethe copyright laws

8 have not createda public performancerate when

9 recordingsare played on terrestrial radio

10 stations, correct?

11 A. That's my understanding.

12 Q ~ And so radio stations can play the

13 recordings for free, correct'?

Yes, that ' actually one of — — that
15 assumptionor understandingis part of my

16 testimony, yes.

17 Q ~ And so they don't need to negotiate

18 rates with record companiesor with artists,
19 correct?

20 A. Correct.

21 Q. Now, under the willing buyer, willing

22 seller standardrecord companiesare not willing
23 sellers to terrestrial radio stations, correct?

24 A. If you'e asking me that — — about the

25 hypotheticalnegotiationover price, I certainly
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1 would agreewith that.
5748

And terrestrial radio stations are not

3 willing buyers under that standardeither, correct?

I don't know. That seems like we'e
5 getting in semanticsbecauseI'm sure the radio

6 stationsare quite happy with the price of zero.

7 They'e not holding out for a negative one. So we

8 could debatewhether they'e a willing buyer or

9 not.

10 Q. Assume the law was changedand

11 terrestrial radio stationshad to license public

12 performancerights from record companies. Okay?

13

14

A. Okay.

Q ~ Is it your view that in that situation
15 the record companieswould actually pay the radio

16 stations rather than the radio stationspaying the

17 record companies?

18 I think that if you -- let me add

19 somethingelse. As part of this, do radio stations
20 have the right -- are they going to have the right
21 to steer if they want to?

22 I'm just asking you the question. You

23 can make whatever assumptionsyou want.

24 A. If we move to a market where now

25 there'sgoing to be a license and the radio
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1 stationsget to pick which licensing they take and

2 which not, my testimony is that it. could be

3 negative in some casesfor some stationsbecauseof

4 the promotional value we would have to see.

5 Q ~ Well, it's your testimony, isn't it,
6 that record companieswould actually end up paying

7 the radio stations rather than radio stations
8 paying the record companies?

9 A. No. I believe my testimony is in some

10 casesfor some songs and some stations, it could

11 end up being negative and they could pay them.

12 Now, there'salso questionsyou'e going to have to

13 get into about whether the market would really be

14 effectively competitive, and I believe my testimony

15 is that under the standardsof effective
16 competition, that could happen in cases,but I

17 don't believe I said it would happen in all cases.

18 In fact, I'm quite sure I didn't say that because

19 my conclusionyou shouldn't go with a negative

20 lower bounds for Zone of Reasonablenesswas based

21 on the fact that I didn't think it would always be

22 negative.

23 Q ~ Are you aware that the record companies

24 and artists have been lobbying Congressto pass a

25 law creating a terrestrialpublic performanceright.

5749
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1 f or sound recordings?
5750

Yes.

Q. And you'e aware of the current

4 legislation called the "Fair Play Fair Pay Act of

5 2015" that is being supportedby the record

6 industry that would create a public performance

7 rates for terrestrial radio stations?
Not -- I'm not aware of the name of any

9 specific piece of legislation. My answer is -- you

10 know, the answer I gave you the first time I'm

11 aware of sort of broad efforts, but I'm not aware

12 of the specifics in the specific legislation.
13 Q ~ And you'e aware that record companies,

14 big and small, and artists have been lobbying

15 Congressfor years and years to try to create a

16 public performanceright for terrestrial radio

17 stations, correct?
I'm aware that they'e been doing it

19 for multiple years. I don't know when it started
20 or when there were gaps, or anything like that.
21 But I know they'e had a persistenteffort.
22 Q. And you'e aware that the terrestrial
23 radio stations have opposedthat legislation,
24 correct?

25 I'm not sure if I know they have a
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1 unified view or not, but it wouldn't surpriseme

5751

Q ~ Well, you'e here testifying at the

3 requestof the National Association of

4 Broadcasters,correct?

That's correct.

Q. Are you aware that the National

7 Associationof Broadcastershas issued a statement

8 saying that it strongly opposesthe Fair Play Fair

9 Pay Act?

10

Let me ask you, if you could, to turn

12 to Tab 7 in your binder.

13

Q.

(Witness complies.)

I'm sorry. If you could turn to Tab 8

15 in your binder.

16

17 Q-

(Witness complies.)

You see that this is an NAB statement?

18 Seems to be .

19 Q. And if you could read the second

20 paragraph, the first line, and tell me whether that
21 refreshesyour recollection that the NAB strongly

22 opposesthe Fair Play Fair Pay Act.

23 MR. JOSEPH: Objection, Your Honor.

24 The witness hasn't testified that he doesn't recall
25 anything. He said he doesn't know of any such
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1 thing.
5752

CHIEF JUDGE BARNETT: Sustained.

BY MR. POMERANTZ:

Q. You'e aware, ProfessorKatz, that the

5 broadcastershave opposedlegislation creating a

6 public performanceright for sound recordingswhen

7 used by terrestrial radio stations for years and

8 years, correct?

MR. JOSEPH: Objection. Asked and

10 answered.

CHIEF JUDGE BARNETT: I think it's a

12 differen.t question.

13 THE WITNESS: No. I mean, I -- in

14 fact, I thought you had askedpart of that. As I

15 said, I'm not sure what the position is of radio

16 broadcasterson this. I believe that some are

17 against, but I don't know if all of them are or

18 not. As I said, I mean, they may have heterogenous

19 views so I don't have an opinion on that.
20 BY MR. POMERANTZ:

21 Q ~ Well, as an economist, if the results
22 of a change in law to create a terrestrialpublic

23 performanceright meant that the record companies

24 would actually pay the radio stations, do you think

25 record companieswould be in favor of that change
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1 in law and radio stationswould be against that
2 change in law?

3 A. I just want. to make sure becausewe 've

4 been talking about actual legislation, which I

5 haven' seen and I don' know the clauses,but

6 you'e just asking as a hypothetical example

7 becausesince I don' know what this legislation
8 is, for all I know it says that the radio

9 companies-- the radio broadcasterscannot respond

10 to price in making their choice of what music to

11 play, yet would have to pay a license fee which

12 would then create de facto monopolies for the

13 record companies, and t:hen I would think a rational
14 broadcasterwould be against that. But: I don'

15 know what's in that legislation.

5753

Now, if you want to ask me a

17 hypothetical question, then I can answer it. But

18 if you'e asking me a questionabout the specific
19 legislation, I don't know about the legislation,
20 and, as an economist, I can't start answering

21 questionsabout it unless I know what the various

22 clausesare.

23 Q. Well, perhaps,my questionwasn'

24 clear, becauseit in no way mentioneda particular
25 piece of legislation. So let me ask my question
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1 again.
5754

As an economist, if the result of a

3 change in law to create a terrestrialpublic

4 performanceright meant that record companieswould

5 pay radio stations rather than radio stations
6 paying record companies,do you think the record

7 companieswould be in favor of that change in law

8 and the radio stationswould be against it?
9 A. And in your hypothetical is all the

10 record companieswould pay all radio stations?
They would have to enter into a license

12 agreement,private marketplaceagreements.

13 A. Wait. Now you'e changing your

14 hypothetical. I -- you said a -- I thought a key

15 element of your hypotheticalwas the direction of

16 payment, and I'm asking

17 Let me make

18

19

20

Q-

you to clarify the

I'l clarify.
whether it's everybody is paying. I

21 just need to know what the hypothetical is and then

22 I'm happy to answer.

23 Q ~ Fair. I'l try to be clear. I thought

24 I was clear.
25 Assume that there'sa change in law
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1 that createsa public performanceright for sound

2 recordingswhen they are aired on terrestrial radio

3 stations. Assume further that that means that a

4 terrestrial radio station cannot use a recording

5 unless they negotiatea deal with whichever

6 copyright owner owns the recording. In that
7 situation, would you expect record companiesto be

8 in favor of that change in law and radio stations
9 to be against it if we assumethat in that

10 eventuality it actually would be the record

11 companiespaying the radio stations?
12 A. In ev'ery case?

5755

13 No. In whatever casesyou were

14 imagining before.

15 I wasn't imagining cases. It's your

16 hypothetical.
17 Q. No. You had said earlier in this
18 proceedingthat you think there will be situations
19 where record companieswould be paying radio

20 stations, correct?

21 A. I said, yes, there well could be such

22 situations. And, again, I said it in the

23 hypotheticalmarket that had effective competition.

24 I think there is open questionsabout whether there

25 will be effective competition here. So you'e
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1 asking me a different question than the ones in

2 which I testified.

5756

Q ~ So you want to

But let me fill in your hypothetical.

5 If you'e telling me in your hypothetical that

6 every single station would have to pay -- every

7 single play would pay the record companies, then I

8 would expect the -- and you'e telling me there'
9 no other changes, then I would expect the recording

10 industry to be in favor of it. But there'sa lot
11 built into your hypothetical that I don't agree

12 that has to do with the real world.

13 Q ~ All right. You'e aware that listeners
14 have only a limited number of choices of

15 terrestrial radio stations in their particular
16 geographiclocation, correct?

17

Yes .

18 In a particular geographiclocation,
19 there may be only one country music station, for

20 example, correct?

21 A. That's -- I guess it's possible. I

22 don't know if it's true or not, but it seems

23 possible.
24

25

Q ~ Or one jazz station, correct?

Seems like it's possible.
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1 Q ~ And you'e also aware that listenersof

2 simulcast stations can choose from thousandsof

5757

3 radio stations that are available across the

4 country or across the world, correct?

Correct.

Q- And you, yourself, listen to simulcast

7 radio stations, correct?

10

Q.

I have been known to, yes.

And you live in the bay area, correct?

That's correct.
But you listen to radio stations from

12 Texas, Los Angeles, France and Germany, correct?

13

14

I have, yes.

Have you done any empirical analysis to

15 determinewhether the far greaternumber of

16 stations that are available to simulcastusers

17 affects the promotional effects of simulcast radio?

A. I have not conducteda quantitative
19 study, no.

20 Q. Have you done any empirical analysis of

21 the promotional effects of terrestrial radio

22 compared to the promotional effects of simulcast

23 radio?

24 I believe in my rebuttal testimony,

25 there'sa -- I may be misrememberingbecauseit'
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1 my rebuttal testimony, but there is — — there'sa

2 discussionof the effects of simulcastingand its
3 role in helping consumerswith music discovery. So

4 I think there is evidence I have cited as well as

5758

5 the fact that the record industry executives, I

6 think in two cases, have testified that they found

7 simulcastingmore promotional, and maybe that'
8 getting off your question, more promotional than

9 other forms of streaming. So there is other

10 evidence. But to your questionhave I conductedmy

11 own empirical study, no.

12 Q. If you could turn to Slide 5 in the

13 demonstrativesthat Mr. Josephwent over with you

14 this morning.

15

16

(Witness complies.)

And do you recall that Mr. Josephasked

17 you some questionsabout diversionarypromotion in

18 connectionwith this slide?

Yes.

20 Q ~ And you recall that one of the points

21 you made was that in the quote from the statute in

22 the box at the bottom of this page it uses the

23 singular copyright owner.

24

25

Do you see that?

Yes, I do.
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Q ~ And you recall that you made a point of
5759

2 pointing out that that was singular, correct?

Yes.

In diversionarypromotion, that means

5 that a sale made by one record company would be

6 taken away from another record company, correct?

A. That's my understandingof how he'

8 using the definition, yes.

Q ~ So the singular copyright owner in this
10 phrase, there'sgoing to be one copyright owner who

11 gets an additional sale and anothersingular
12 copyright owner who loses a particular sale,
13 correct?
14 Yes.

15 Q ~ All right. Let's talk about SDARS II,
16 which you used to create the unreasonablyhigh

17 upper bounds of your Zone of Reasonableness,

18 correct?

19 Yes.

20 Q ~ SDARS II -- the rate established
21 through the SDARS II proceedingwas not a

22 negotiatedmarket rate, correct?

23 A. I mean, if you mean, ultimately, the

24 actual SDARS rate, it was one that was -- yeah, set
25 by judges.
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Q ~ All right. And you understandthat the
5760

2 SDARS II proceedinginvolved a statutory standard

3 that is different than the standardthat applies in

4 this case?

5 A. Yeah, I'm aware that the statutory
6 languageis different. My understandingwas,

7 though, that the processby which the rate was

8 derived had some substantialoverlap in the use of

9 market agreements,particularly interactive ones,

10 and then there were adjustmentsand there were

11 certainly some differences. But my understanding

12 is that the statutory languageoverall is
13 different, yes.

14 Q ~ Well, from an economic point of view,

15 do you think the words "reasonablerates and terms"

16 means the same thing as rates and terms that most

17 clearly representthe rates and terms that would

18 have been negotiatedin the marketplacebetweena

19 willing buyer and a willing seller?
20 A. I am not offering an opinion as an

21 economistas to the equivalenceof those or not.

22 My reliance on the SDARS rates was basedon the use

23 by the Court of having the noninter -- interactive
24 benchmarkand the way it was applied, and then that
25 the processand the considerationsthat were
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1 discussedand used to derive at, that those were

2 similar. I'm not offering it basedon my reading

3 of the statute.

5761

Q. Before you decided to adopt the SDARS

5 II rate as your upper bound, you consideredtwo

6 potential adjustments,correct?

7 A. You don't mean before temporally?

8 Could you re-ask the question?

Q. Sure. I'l word it differently.
10 A. I apologize. Something just threw me

11 when you asked it.
12 Q ~ Is it -- turn to Paragraph87, Page 57

13 of your written direct testimony.

14

15

17

18 Q ~

(Witness complies.)

JUDGE STRICKLER: Which page?

MR. POMERANTZ: Page 57, Paragraph87.

BY MR . POMERANT Z:

As part of your analysis of using SDARS

19 II as an upper bound for your Zone of

20 Reasonableness,you consider somethingyou refer to

21 as a music listening adjustment, correct?

22 That's correct.
23 Q ~ And you also consideredsomething that
24 you refer to as a music revenueadjustment,

25 correct?
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A. That's correct.
57 62

2 Q ~ And after doing your analysis of those

3 two adjustments,you decided that you didn't need

4 to make any adjustments,correct?

Well, I'm not going to get into

6 semantics.

What I concluded is that the adjustment

8 factor you would use would be near one, and

9 therefore, making the adjustmentwouldn't have an

10 effect; but, nonetheless,it was taking these

11 factors into account.

12 Q. All right. You did not make any

13 adjustmentfor the fact that SiriusXM relies on a

14 subscriptionmodel and simulcastersrely on an

15 ad-supportedmodel, correct?
That's correct.

17 Q. And you did not make any adjustment for

18 the differencesbetween the costs of SiriusXM and

19 the costs of simulcasters,correct?

20 I would say that is not an accurate

21 characterization. What I did in that regard was

22 actually rely on what the judges had done there

23 becausethe rate for SiriusXM is actually not this
24 rate but a higher one becausethere was the -- I'l
25 probably get it wrong -- the 801(b) factors.
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1 Anyway, there were other factors taken into account

2 and there was an adjustmentmade in the SDARS

3 proceedingfor infrastructurecosts and I did not

4 import that adjustmentover here. So, in doing so,

5 I did make an adjustment.

57 63

All right. Well, we'l take a look at

7 where you actually got your 13 percentnumber from

8 in a second.

But the SDARS II panel noted that
10 Sirius had a preferentialbargainingposition
11 becauseof the name recognition and status as the

12 sole provider of satellite radio services, correct'?

A. As 1 sit here, I don't recall that. If
14 you want to representit:.

15 Q. Yeah. Go to Tab 13, please, in your

16 binder.

18 Q.

(Witness complies.)

This is the SDARS II decision which is
19 a decision you relied upon, correct?

20

21 Q.

I believe so, yes.

All right. Now, if you could turn to

22 Page 23065, and on the very — — on the right— hand

23 column near the bottom there is a sentencethat
24 begins "no single buyer."

25 Do you see that?
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Q ~

Q ~

I'm sorry, 23065 right column?

Near the bottom?

Near the bottom.

Maybe 15 lines up there'sa sentence

5764

5 that begins "no single buyer or group of buyers."

A.

Do you see that?
Is it all right if I write on your

8 can I write on your copy?

You sure can.

So I don't lose the small print.
Okay. 1 do see the word "no single

12 buyer.

Q ~ And it says: "No single buyer or group

14 of buyers in that market seems comparableto

15 SiriusXM in terms of its name recognition and

16 statusas the sole provider of satellite radio

17 services; therefore, the judges believe that
18 SiriusXM likely would have been in a preferential
19 bargainingposition to the interactive subscription

20 serviceproviders and may have negotiatedvery

21 different rates as a result."
22

23

24 Q ~

Do you see that?

Yes, I do.

Simulcastersare not in the same

25 bargainingposition as SiriusXM was in, correct?
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I think that ' probably — — well, it '
57 65

2 certainly correct as far as they'edescribing,

3 yes.

Q ~ There isn't a single simulcasterthat
5 is the sole provider of simulcastingservices,
6 correct?

That's correct.
Or the sole provider of Webcasting

9 services, correct?

10 I agree with that.
But you didn't make any adjustment

12 becauseof this difference in bargainingposition,
13 did you?

I will point out that the bargaining

15 position he was talking about was referring to an

16 analysisby Dr. Ordover. So no, I didn't make an

17 adjustment.to Dr. Ordover' analysisbecausein

18 this aspectof it, ultimately, it wasn't part of

19 the rate.
20 Q. All right. So could you turn to Page

21 56 of your written direct testimony, Paragraph85?

22 A. (Witness complies.)

23 Yes?

Q ~ Now, in the middle of Paragraph85,

25 you -- there'sa sentencethat states: "In SDARS
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1 II, the judges found that 13 percentconstitutesa

2 sensibleupper bound on the Zone of Reasonableness

3 before adjusting to account for the Section 801(b)

4 factors."

5766

Do you see that?

Yes, I do.

And you understandthat 13 percent to

8 be a referenceto 13 percentof revenues,correct:?

I believe so, yes.

10 Q. All right. And you'e relying on that
11 particular 13 percent figure in your direct
12 testimony in this case, correct?

A. Yes, as a guidepost, I am.

Q. And you'e saying that that is an

15 initial guidepostand you believe that the rates
16 set in this proceedingfor simulcastersshould be

17 less than t:hat 13 percentof revenue, correct?

18 Yes. Well, yes, subject to -- yes.

19 Yes.

20 Do you understandthat in the SDARS II
21 decision the judges arrived at that 13 percent

22 figure by looking to what happenedin SDARS I?

23 A. As I sit here, I was actually blanking

24 out. I thought it carried over from that and it
25 was from the underlying -- that, ultimately, there
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1 was an underlying analysis of interactive services

2 benchmarkthat carried across, but I may be

3 misrememberingas I sit here.

57 67

Q. Okay. So let's just look back at the

5 SDARS II decision. Go to Page 2 — — it's at Tab 13

6 and go to 23066.

(Witness complies.)

I'm there.

Q. And if you look at the bottom of the

10 first column, right above the Heading 4 at the

11 bottom, do you see Heading 4 at the bottom?

12 Yes.

13 And two sentencesabove that it states
14 "Lastly, the judges consider the prevailing
15 statutory rate of 8 percent, which the judges

16 adjusteddown from a 13 percent rate in SDARS I,
17 basedon the fourth Section 801(b) factor."
18

20 Q.

Do you see that?

Yes, I do.

All right. So, do you have any reason

21 to disagreewith the fact that the 13 percent

22 figure was simply something that the judges in

23 SDARS II took from the SDARS I decision?

I just want to make sure I understand

25 your question. Are you asking me did the SDARS II
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1 judges just take the SDARS I decision without

2 consideringit? They just imported it
3 mechanically, is that. what you'e asking? I don'

4 understandthe question.

5768

Q ~ You are relying on this 13 percent

6 figure in your testimony, correct?

7 A. I am relying on a 13 percent figure,
8 whether it's the one being discussedhere I'm not

9 sure becauseit says about consider -- I mean, this
10 may be a different 13 percent. You'e asking me

11 about one paragraphin a long document. I

12 certainly rely on a 13 percent figure they came up

13 with; but, as I sit. here, I don't know if this
14 is -- I mean, one of them even as I thought one of

15 the judges had a different opinion as a result. So

16 just looking at this paragraphin isolation, I'm

17 not sure this is the 13 percent.

18 Q ~ So, where did you get your 13 percent

19 figure from?

20 I mean, I would have to go back and

21 look through it, but it seemedlike there was an

22 overall discussionand where they came out, but I

23 don't remember if it's that line. I would have to

24 go back and read through SDARS.

25 Q ~ But as you'e sitting here today, you
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1 can't think of any other source for that 13 percent

2 figure other than what I just showed you here as a

3 direct referenceto SDARS I?

57 69

Wait. I don't understand.

You'e saying -- if you'e asking do I

6 think the judges said, well, there's 13 percent in

7 SDARS I, we'e not going to do any thinking, let'
8 just adopt it again without looking at the record,

9 I don't believe that's what they did.

10 Well, I didn't say that's what they

11 did.

12 Well, that's what I'm saying, I don'

13 understandwhat questionyou'e asking.

14 Q. My question is: Where did they come up

15 with the 13 percent figure that you'e relying on

16 in your testimony?

17 I guess you go back and you can read

18 the decision or they explained it. I was talking
19 about the fact that they ultimately came up with

20 it, and then I thought that it -- as I believe I

21 wrote in my testimony, that it had been influenced

22 by an interactive service'sbenchmark.

23 Q ~ Well, do you under -- okay. Let's go

24 to SDARS I. You understandthat there was also a

25 13 percent figure referred to in SDARS I, correct?
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Certainly. Based on what I just read,
5770

2 that would be my understanding.

3 Q ~ Okay. And is it your understanding

4 that the 13 percent figure that was referred to in

5 SDARS I was derived from an analysis of interactive
6 service agreementsthat were enteredinto before

7 2008?

I don't have a recollection, as I sit
9 here. I would have to go back and read through the

10 decision.

Well, is it your view, as you sit here

12 today, that it's proper for the judges in this
13 proceedingto rely on a percentagethat was derived

14 from interactive service agreementsthat were

15 enteredinto prior to 2008?

16 A. If there were intervening adjustments

17 made and considerations,yes.

18 Q ~ So you believe that it's okay to

19 consider interactive service agreementsin setting
20 an upper bound for the Zone of Reasonableness?

21 I have said that I think that
22 interactive service agreementsdo have a role to

23 play in thinking about it, and I testified about

24 that extensively in my written rebuttal testimony,

25 as you know. And -- but would I have come out,
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1 both in terms of using the SDARS agreementsand

2 also on the interactive service agreements

3 generallywith Dr. Rubinfeld and said, well, it
4 provides some information, I have not been able to

5 use it to come up with a specific rate, and that'
6 why I didn't propose a specific rate here. And I

7 also, in identifying what I thought were numerous

8 significant errors, Dr. Rubinfeld did not

9 ultimately say here is the rate that comes out of

10 it, but I certainly have taken the position that
11 there is information to be gleaned from looking at
12 those. It's a question of how you use that
13 information.

5771

14 Q. Do you believe that the judges in this
15 proceedingshould be relying on agreementsentered

16 into before 2008 to set an upper bound for the Zone

17 of Reasonableness?

18 If you'e saying that there'
19 agreementsfrom 2008 that were part of the overall

20 record developedas part of SDARS and that it
21 carried through into SDARS II, of course, subject
22 to the judges looking at the updatedrecords, I

23 think they can have a role to play. If you'e
24 asking me would I be comfortable if the present

25 judges said, oh, let's just look at agreementsfrom
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1 2008 and ignore the rest of the record and anything

2 that's happening in the interveningperiod, I would

3 not be comfortablewith that.
4 Q. All right. Let's go to a different
5 subj ect.

5772

Could you turn to Page 30 of your

7 written direct testimony?

A. (Witness complies.)

I'm there.
10 Q- All right. And you see in Heading 5

11 you state: "Dr. Pelcovits'sWeb II interactive
12 servicesbenchmarkwas so seriously flawed as to be

13 unusable."

14

15

16

Do you see that?

Yes, I do.

And then you go on for the next ten

17 pages, or so, and discuss those flaws, correct?

18 A. Yes. I won'. check the number of

19 pages, but yes.

20 Q. Well, it's at least 10.

21 Let's go to Page 40. If you could turn

22 to Page 40.

23

24 Q ~

(Witness complies.)

And you see Heading 3 states
25 "Dr. Pelcovits relied on what is very likely a bias
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1 sample of contracts."
5773

Do you see that?

Yes, I do.

And by a bias sample you'e saying that
5 he looked at only contractsbetween interactive
6 servicesand major record companiesand did not

7 look at agreementsbetween interactive servicesand

8 independentrecord companies, correct?

That was one of the points. I need to

10 check whether there are -- I can't recall if there

11 were other points I was making here about bias

12 becausequestionsof bias sampleshave come up in

13 other contexts; but, certainly, that's one of the

14 points I was making.

15 Q. All right. So in the context of not

16 consideringindependents,you discussthis in

17 Paragraph60 on the next page of Page 41 so I want

18 to direct your attention to Paragraph60. And in

19 Paragraph60, you state: "More generally, the

20 greater the buyer's ability to shift uses to or

21 from a seller with whom the buyer is negotiating,
22 the more competitive will be the resulting price.
23 Hence, negotiationsbetweenany given buyer and

24 small labels will tend to be closer to effectively
25 competitive rates than correspondingdeals between

(866)448- DEPO www.CapitalReportingCompany.corn  2015



CapitalReportingCompany
Day 21 In Re: Determinationof RoyaltyRates(Public) 05-26-2015

1 the buyer and a maj or record company because

2 significant share shift is more likely to be

3 possiblewith respectto the smaller labels."

5774

Do you see that?

Yes, I do.

Q. What do you mean by the term

7 "significant share shift" ?

I mean that the buyer could have an

9 intent -- greaterability as measuredas a

10 percentageof the purchasesof that particular
11 seller to substituteaway from that seller and into

12 anotheror to substituteto that seller and away

13 from other sellers.
Q ~ And why do you think that significant

15 share

17

(Interruption.)

BY MR. POMERANTZ:

18 Again, we'e at the last sentenceof

19 Paragraph60, ProfessorKatz.

20 Why do you think significant share

21 shift is more likely to be possiblewith respectto

22 the smaller labels?
23 A. Well, if you'e got a large enough

24 label, at some point -- actually, not label, but if
25 you'e got a large enough record company, at some
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1 point trying to shift away from them entirely is
2 going to significantly degradethe buyer or

3 certainly it's quite possible significantly degrade

4 the quality of the buyer's product that it', in

5 turn, offering to its customers.

6 Q. And why do you think that the

7 significant share shift would lead to the smaller

8 labels receiving a lower rate than the major record

9 companies?

5775

10 Well, actually, I think what I said

11 here and what I'e learnedsince is a little more

12 optimistic about competition than, perhaps, is
13 warrantedbecausethere actually is an issue of

14 whether the smaller labels will just piggyback on

15 the majors, and by doing that undermine this
16 competitive force. But if we hold that aside,
17 which is an important thing to hold aside, if they

18 weren't able to piggyback, the fact that they could

19 potentially, you know, could double their business

20 would make them -- they would seek greater
21 competitive benefits and so it would make them more

22 likely to break ranks with the rest of the

23 industry.

All right. Let's turn to Page 43 of

25 your testimony.
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JUDGE STRICKLER: Before you do, does
5776

2 that mean the oppositewould be true if we finished

3 off and rephrasedthe last phrase in Paragraph60

4 of your written direct testimony, that significant
5 share shift is less likely to be possiblewith

6 respectto the larger labels?

THE WITNESS: Yeah. I mean, careful

8 about how we'e measuringit, but you could have a

9 bigger absolutequantity of share shift just
10 becausethe record company is much bigger. But,

11 yeah, I think -- sure. I mean, just take a

12 mechanicalpoint. You could have a small label
13 where you could triple your plays of that label.
14 You couldn'. -- I mean, it. would be hard pressedto

15 triple the place of Universal. I mean, the share

16 would be over a hundredpercent. So, that level,
17 yes.

18 JUDGE STRICKLER: So, does that mean

19 you could affect the price, that is to say the rate
20 through steeringwith regard to the smaller labels

21 than the larger labels?

22 THE WITNESS: Potentially, yes. I

23 mean, they could do -- I mean, they would

24

25

BY MR. POMERANTZ:

Let me turn you now to Page 43, and
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1 this is where you begin your discussionof the

2 settlementagreementbetweenNAB and SoundExchange,

3 correct?

5777

Yes.

Q. And the heading here says: "The

6 NAB-SoundExchangeWSA agreementis not a valid

7 benchmark."

10

Do you see that?

Yes, I do.

At the time you wrote this, did you

11 think SoundExchangewas going to be of fering the

12 2009 settlementagreementas a benchmark in this
13 2015 proceeding?

14

15

I wasn't sure if they were or not.

But that's why you wrote this heading,

16 right, becauseyou thought SoundExchangewas going

17 to be relying on it as a benchmark in this
18 proceeding?

No. I think it's also -- it's of

20 interestbecauseI think the questionsof the

21 shadow and the fact that it played an important

22 role in the past, I think it's worth understanding

23 because,as you know, I believe there'sa need to

24 break with the past.
25 Q. And you understand that SoundExchange
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1 is not offering the NAB-SoundExchangesettlement

2 agreementas a benchmark in this proceeding?

3 A. Actually, I'm not sure I have an

4 understanding. My understandingis that your

5 economic experts or at least Dr. Rubinfeld is not

6 offering it. I don't know if there'ssomething

7 else SoundExchangeis doing. I haven', for

8 example, read what various SoundExchangeexecutives

9 are saying.

10 Q. And you understandthat NAB and

11 SoundExchangeentered into their settlement

12 discussionsbefore the Web III proceedinghad

13 concluded, correct?

5778

Yes.

15 In fact, you understandthat NAB and

16 SoundExchangereachedan agreementbefore the

17 direct cases in Web III had even been submitted,

18 correct?

19 That's my recollection.
20 Q ~ And, therefore, neither NAB nor

21 SoundExchangeknew what rates would be set by the

22 CRB in Web III at the time they reachedtheir
23 agreement,correct?

25 Q.

Exactly, yes.

And both NAB and SoundExchangeknew
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1 that if they didn't reach a settlement, the

2 broadcasterscould still use the recordingsof the

3 labels by paying whatever rates were set by the CRB

4 in Web III, correct?

5779

Yeah, exactly. That's the shadow.

So NAB had a choice at the time it
7 enteredinto the settlementagreement,correct?

8 A.

Yes .

It could have set rates by reaching an

10 agreementwith SoundExchange,or it could have not.

11 reachedan agreementwith SoundExchangeand just
12 relied on whatever rates were issued in the Web III
13 proceeding,correct?

14 A. Exactly. I think that's what I just
15 said in my direct testimony earlier this morning.

16 Q. And NAB could have participatedin the

17 Web III proceedingif it wanted to, correct?

18 A. You'e saying conditional on the

19 agreementor not. It dependson what you'e
20 yes.

21

22

Q ~ If they didn't reach an agreement

If they didn't reach an agreement,my

23 understandingis they could have participated.
24 Q ~ They could have hired you to come in

25 and testify, correct?
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I would have to see if I was busy then,
5780

2 but potentially, yes.

3 Q. They could have made all of the

4 argumentsthey were making about interactive
5 service agreementstoday, they could have made them

6 back in Web III, correct?

I don't think that is correct. I think

8 we have a lot of new information today that wasn'

9 available then, so I don't believe they could make

10 the arguments. I mean, take the case of the

11 Universal-EMI merger about which the judges have

12 heard a lot, I think all of those documents-- I

13 don't think would have been available to them, I

14 believe. Anyway, they weren't available to the

15 Court then.

16 We'e also seen, as you and I have

17 discusseda little bit earlier today, the -- you

18 know, the breaking out of competition in some of

19 the noninteractivedirect deals now. So no, I

20 don't think you could. It's a different record

21 now, and that's one of the reasonswhy I think it'
22 appropriateto break with the past becauseit's now

23 a different record with a lot of information that,
24 I think, leads to a different decision. So I don'

25 see how you think they could have run Web IV at the
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1 Web III time frame.
5781

Q. Do you think the majors or must— haves

3 were streamingservicesback in 2009?

MR. JOSEPH: Obj ection. Ambiguous.

CHIEF JUDGE BARNETT: Sustained.

JUDGE STRICKLER: Is the ambiguity

8 becausethe phrase "streaming services" is not

9 defined?

10 THE WITNESS: Yes, Your Honor. In the

11 question.

12

13 Q.

BY MR. POMERANTZ:

All right. Let' talk about

14 interactive streamingservices

15 Do you think record companies-- do you

16 think the major record companiesor must—haves were

17 interactive streamingservicesback in 2009?

I would have to look at the full set of

19 majors then becauseit was somewhatdifferent than

20 now, and whether they all were I'm not sure, and I

21 haven't -- but I would believe, for example, that
22 Universal would have been as well, but I have not

23 gone back and conducteda detailed examinationof

24 the status of things in 2009.

25 And the NAB certainly was capable of
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1 paying for lawyers to handle the Web III
2 proceeding,correct?

5782

MR. JOSEPH: Objection. Calls for

4 speculation. Lack of personal knowledge.

CHIEF JUDGE BARNETT: Sustained.

BY MR. POMERANTZ:

Q. You don't have any idea of whether

8 the -- do you know what the NAB broadcasters

9 revenueswere in 2009?

10 No. I believe in 2008 and 2009 that
11 they were depressed,but I don't -- becauseof the

12 great recession,at least that's my recollection.
13 But as I sit here, I don't have a view on revenues.

14 I do have a view as an economist that the revenue

15 probably would be the wrong measureif you were to

16 be allowed to ask a question about affordability
17 becauseyou should look at what the profits were.

18 Q ~ Do you understandthat the broadcasters

19 were bringing in more than $ 10 billion in the

20 depressedyears of 2008 and 2009?

21 And you'e talking specifically about

22 radio broadcasters?
23 Q ~ Right.

Whoever are members of the NAB.

25 So if I recall figures that include
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1 television, I believe it's bigger than that,
2 significantly.
3 Q. Now, in addition to deciding not to

4 reach an agreementand wait for the Web III
5 decision, the broadcastersalso could have reached

6 out directly to the major record companiesto try
7 to strike a direct deal, correct?

8 A. Well, as I testified earlier, if you

9 mean they could contact them and reach out, in

10 essence,sure.

11 Q. Are you aware of any evidence that. any

12 broadcasteror the NAB reachedout to the major

13 record companies to see if they could reach a

14 direct agreementwith a major record company rather
15 than a settlementagreementwith SoundExchange?

16 A. No. I believe Mr. Newberry might have

17 told me that, you know, they thought about it and

18 they just thought it wasn't -- there was no point
19 that they didn't believe the rates. Certainly as I

20 sit here, I'm not aware of any specific efforts to

21 try to contact him and reach side deals.

22 Q ~ Now, what you said was that Warner or

23 the majors sit on the licensing committee of the

24 of SoundExchange,and therefore, they wouldn't go

25 aheadand do a direct deal, correct?

5783
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That ' simpli fying things a bit, but I
5784

2 believe their ability to formulate an industry

3 position then would affect their overall incentives

4 and would increasethe ability to engage in tacit
5 coordination, yes.

6 Q And you'e aware that when Warner

7 enteredinto the iHeart deal it held the same

8 position on the SoundExchangeboard and licensing
9 committee, correct?

10 No. I mean, Sound -- 1 -- when you say

11 correct, it's not my recollectionbecauseI'm not

12 aware of whether they were on it or not, and also

13 I'm not aware that they'e engagedin a specific
14 negotiationnow in the same way that they were.

15 And if you representit, I don'. have a reasonto

16 disagreewith you, but. I just don't know what. the

17 current structure is.
18 Q ~ Now, you say that you spoke with

19 Mr. Newberry in advanceof submitting your writt:en

20 direct testimony, correct?

21 A.

Yes .

22 Q- And you understoodthat he was one of

23 the lead negotiatorsfor the NAB in the discussions

24 that led to the settlementwith SoundExchange,

25 correct?
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That's my understanding,yes.
5785

Q. And when you talked to Mr. Newberry,

3 you were seeking relevant information about the

4 negotiationsof the terms of that settlement

5 agreement,correct?

6 A. Yeah.

7 Q. As part of your efforts to gather

8 relevant information about that settlement

9 agreement,did you read the press statementthat
10 was issuedby the NAB at the time that the

11 settlementagreementwas announced?

12 A. I don't believe that I had read that
13 press statementat the time, but I'm not sure I

14 read it at that time or not, but I don't think I

15 did.

17

Have you read it now?

I believe I have seenparts of it. I'm

18 not sure -- I don'0 recall if I read the whole

19 thing or not. Maybe you'e talking about a

20 different press statement. I have, I believe, seen

21 part of a press statement.

22 Q ~ Are you aware that the executive

23 director of the NAB said back in 2009 that the

24 settlementagreementprovided fair compensationto

25 artists and copyright owners?
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I don't remember specific language.
5786

2 But, again, if you want to representthat to me or

3 show it to me, I don't have a reason to doubt you.

4 Q. As part of your efforts to gather

5 relevant information about the settlement

6 agreement,did you review the motion that the NAB

7 and SoundExchangejointly filed with the CRB panel

8 seeking adoption of the settlement?

I don't believe that I reviewed that as

10 part of conducting the analysis that led to my

11 written direct testimony.

12

13

Q ~ Have you read it since that time?

Again, I believe I have read parts of

14 it. It may be referring to somethingdifferent
15 than what I'm recollecting, but I have seen some

16 sort of -- parts of some sort of joint motion.

17 Q. Well, are you aware that back in 2009

18 NAB expresseda view that becausethe rate and

19 terms provided by the settlementhad already been

20 embracedby over 380 commercial broadcasters

21 comprising thousandsof individual stations in the

22 context of the WebcasterSettlementAct agreement,

23 the settlementmanifestly provides a reasonable

24 basis for setting statutory terms and rates?
25 That languagesounds familiar, but I
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1 don't have it committed to memory.

2 Q ~ So, as part of your efforts to gather

3 relevant information about the settlement

4 agreement,did you seek out information about the

5 number of broadcastersthat have taken out

5787

6 Webcasting licensesat the rates set forth in the

7 NAB-SoundExchangesettlementagreement?

I did not seek it out. I was aware

9 that many broadcastershad done it. I thought it
10 was in the order of hundreds, so I was aware of

11 that. But beyond that, I didn't seek additional
12 information.

13 Q. And you'e aware that those hundredsof

14 broadcasterswho had taken out licensespursuant to

15 the settlementagreementbetweenNAB and

16 SoundExchangewere paying the rates set forth in

17 that settlementagreement,correct?

18 A. That's what I would assumethey'e
19 doing, yeah.

20

21

22 Q.

Could you turn to Tab 4 in the binder.

(Witness complies.)

This is the testimony, the written
23 testimony of JonathanBender of SoundExchangein

24 this matter. And if you could turn to Page 13...
25 (Witness complies.)
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I'm there.
5788

All right. And you see that Mr. Bender

3 has Figure 2 which describesthe licenseesby type.

Do you see that?

Yes, I do.

Is this -- and I want to direct your

7 attention specifically to the broadcasterline up

8 at the top of the chart.
Do you see that?

10 Yes.

11 Q.

12 949 in 2013.

678 licenseesin 2011; 851 in 2012; and

13

14

Do you see that'?

Yes, I do.

15 Q. Were you aware at the time that you

16 submittedyour written direct testimony that there

17 were almost a thousandbroadcasterswho were paying

18 the rates set forth in the NAB — SoundExchange

19 settlementagreement?

20 A. As I said, I don't have a recollection
21 of thinking of a specific number. I thought it was

22 somewherein the hundreds, and beyond that, I

23 didn't form a specific belief.
Q ~ Is it fair to say that no broadcaster

25 is legally compelled to simulcast?
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Not that I'm aware of, but I wouldn'
5789

2 offer a legal opinion on that. But not that I'm

3 aware of.

4 Q. But it's your understandingthat
5 broadcasterschoosewhether to simulcast or not,

6 correct?

A. That's my understanding,yes.

Q ~ And it's your understandingthat almost

9 a thousandbroadcastershave decided that they want

10 to simulcastusing the rates set forth in the

11 agreementbetweenNAB and SoundExchange,correct?

MR. JOSEPH: Objection. I don'

13 believe he has testified to that understanding.

MR. POMERANTZ: That's my question to

15 him.

17

THE WITNESS: I'm sorry. I

CHIEF JUDGE BARNETT: Would you repeat

18 the question, please.
19 MR. POMERANTZ: Sure.

20

21 Q ~

BY MR. POMERANTZ:

Is it your understandingthat the

22 almost thousandbroadcasters-- actually, I'l ask

23 a different question. I'l withdraw that question.

24

25

CHIEF JUDGE BARNETT: Okay.

BY MR. POMERANTZ:
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1 Q ~ The almost thousandbroadcastersthat

2 have decided to simulcastand to pay the rates in

3 the NAB-SoundExchangesettlementagreementare

4 doing so becausethey think doing so is in their
5 best interest, correct?

5790

I would assumeso, yes.

MR. POMERANTZ: I have no further

8 questions,Your Honor.

CHIEF JUDGE BARNETT: Mr. Joseph, how

10 much redirect?
MR. JOSEPH: Very little, Your Honor.

12 I would say -- in the past, I have said under two

13 minutes. This may be about, that amount.

CHIEF JUDGE BARNETT: All right.
REDIRECT EXAMINATION BY COUNSEL FOR NAB

Q ~

BY MR. JOSEPH:

ProfessorKatz, let me ask you to turn,

18 please, to Paragraph74 of your direct testimony.

A. (Witness complies. )

20 CHIEF JUDGE BARNETT: I'm sorry. Where

21 did you direct?
22

23

24

25 Q ~

MR. JOSEPH: Paragraph74 on Page 48.

CHIEF JUDGE BARNETT: Thank you.

BY MR. JOSEPH:

Does that paragraphplace where you
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1 addressthe significance or meaning of the number

2 of broadcastersthat have signed up under the

3 WebcasterSettlementAct rates?

5791

I mean, it's certainly one place where

5 I did and that's the subject of the paragraph.

6 Q. And is that still your conclusion

7 regarding the significance of the number of

8 broadcastersthat have signed up for the Webcaster

9 SettlementAct rate?
10 Yes. I mean, in some sensethis just
11 comes back to the last question that counsel for

12 SoundExchangeaskedme, which is I assumeit was in

13 their self-interestand that means they thought it
14 was better in the alternatives,but that doesn'

15 mean that in any way it was saying it was

16 effectively competitive or reasonable. It meant

17 the broadcasterssaw themselvesas -- their other

18 options as being worse.

19

20

MR. JOSEPH: No further questions.

CHIEF JUDGE BARNETT: Okay. Thank you,

21 Professor.

22

23

We will be at recessuntil 1:05.

(A short recesswas taken.)

CHIEF JUDGE BARNETT: Good afternoon.

25 Pleasebe seated.
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Do we have a witness?
5792

MR. STURM: Yes, Your Honor.

NAB calls John Dimick.

JOHN DIMICK,

being first duly sworn, to tell the

6 truth, the whole truth and nothing but the truth,
7 testified as follows:

MR. STURM: Your Honor, I have a

9 relatively small binder for you.

10 CHIEF JUDGE BARNETT: Thank you.

MR. STURM: And, Your Honor, Mr. Dimick

12 has both direct and rebuttal testimony. So what

13 we'e going to do is we'l do a little background

14 and then his rebuttal and then the direct.
15

16

CHIEF JUDGE BARNETT: Thank you.

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY COUNSEL FOR NAB

17 BY MR. STURM:

18 Q ~ Mr. Dimick, would you state your full
19 name, please.

20

21

John Dimick.

And could you spell it for the court

22 reporter, please.

23 J-O-H-N, last name is D-I-M-I-C-K.

25

Q ~ Where do you work, Mr. Dimick?

I work for Lincoln Financial Media
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1 Company.
5793

Where is that located?

Corporateheadquartersis basedout of

4 Atlanta, Georgia.

5 Q. Can you just tell the court very

6 briefly how you got your start in the radio

7 businessand how long you'e been involved in it?
Yeah. I'e been doing it 35, almost 36

9 years. Startedwhen I was 15 kind of doing weekend

10 news on the air and then put my way through college

11 doing overnights and nights on the air, you know

12 pulling air shifts.
13 Eventually wound up programing a radio

14 station in Logan, Utah, which was kind of an AC

15 station, adult contemporarystation. Programming

16 that for a while.

17 Went to Bakersfield, California, to

18 program an oldies station. Went back to Salt Lake

19 to program an active rock station. Kind of a

20 And what

21 Active rock, Slaughter, Tesla, Wingers,

22 Scorpions, all the hair bands of the early to

23 not a particular format we'e proud of, but it
24 existed.

25 From there I programmeda top 40
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1 station called Kissin'7 in Salt Lake City before

2 I moved to Seattle to program at that time, which

3 was kind of an emerging format, called hot AC. It
4 was kind of a cross between top 40 and adult

5 contemporarymusic.

5794

I left Seattle to go to Columbus, Ohio

7 to program a -- at that time a very big top 40

8 station in the Midwest named WNCI and eventually

9 came what is the flagship station of our parent,

10 Nationwide Communications. And eventually wound up

11 becoming the group programmer for that company

12 before it was sold.

13 I moved to San Diego, California, where

14 I worked for the predecessorto Lincoln Financial,

15 which is Jefferson-PilotCommunications,where I

16 startedout as program director for the country

17 station and eventually was promoted to operations

18 manager. So I oversaw country, oldies, conversion

19 to '80s, conversion to alternatives,smooth jazz

20 with conversion to AC.

21

22

Q- Did you have a hair band?

No hair bands there. No hair bands

23 there.
And then from there was asked to come

25 and program Hot 97 in New York. For somebody in my
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1 position, I mean Hot 97 is a huge and influential
2 radio station. It's arguably the largest hip hop

3 radio station in the country.

5795

So I programmedthat for three years

5 before getting an opportunity to return and work

6 for my old boss at now Lincoln Financial Media as

7 the vice presidentof programmingwhere I was there

8 for two years before being promoted to senior vice

9 presidentof programming.

10 Q. So your presentposition is senior vice

11 presidentof programming for Lincoln Financial?

12 A. Yes.

What are your responsibilitiesas SVP

14 as programming"?

15 A. If it. has something to do with the

16 product or how we engagean audienceor, you know,

17 marketing, promotion, high-level technical,
18 audienceoutreach, that's -- in one way or another,

19 either I work directly with it or the people that
20 work directly with it work for me.

21 Q. Have you recently added a new

22 responsibility?
23 Oh, yeah. At the end of March I was

24 named the acting daily program director of Star 94

25 in Atlanta. It ' our company' flagship station.

(866)448- DEPO www.CapitalReportingCompany.corn  2015



CapitalReportingCompany
Day 21 In Re: Determinationof RoyaltyRates(Public) 05-26-2015

1 It's the biggest station, our biggestmarket. And

2 I'm now chargedwith the day— to— day programming

3 responsibilitiesfor it as well.

5796

Let's talk a little bit about Lincoln

5 Financial.

How many radio station does Lincoln

7 operate?

We have 16 radio stations in four

9 markets.

10 Okay. What are those markets?

We'e in Miami, Atlanta, Denver and

12 San Diego.

13 Q. And how many music stations and how

14 many nonmusic stations?
15 We have ten music stations and six

16 nonmusic stations
17 Q.

18 broadcast?

Do you stream those stations as well as

19 Yes, sir.
20

21

Q. Do you have some HD stations as well?

All of our analog stations are

22 broadcastin HD1. And then we have in some areas

23 HD2 and HD3 signals. Depending on whether we

24 program them or someoneelse programs them, we'l
25 stream. One of ours is a religious broadcaster,
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1 and they handle it. But anything that we have

2 direct control over we also stream.

5797

Let's turn to -- I believe it's the

4 second tab in your binder, Exhibit 4 -- NAB Exhibit

5 4009.

Do you have it there?

Yes, sir.
And is that your written rebuttal

9 testimony?

10 Yes, sir
Q ~ It's your signatureon Page 8?

12 Yes, sir
13 Have you reviewed that testimony

14 recently?
15 Yes, sir.

Q ~ Do you believe everything in there to

17 be true?

18 Yes, sir
19 MR. STURM: Okay. I move the admission

20 of Exhibit 4009.

21

22

23

MR. OLASA: No objection.

CHIEF JUDGE BARNETT: 4009 is admitted.

(NAB Exhibit No. 4009 was admitted into

24 evidence.)

25 BY MR. STURM:
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1 Q. All right. Could you flip these

2 bottom of Page 2 of your written rebuttal
3 testimony. And this was responsiveto some

4 testimony that Mr. Kooker gave in his written

5 direct statement. And there'sa long quote there

6 on Page 2 carrying over to page 3.

5798

Are you there?

Yes, sir
9 Q ~ So the first thing Mr. Kooker says is:

10 "One of the original justifications for allowing

11 statutoryservices to pay these lower rates was

12 that the offering under the statutory license would

13 provide a user experiencesimilar to terrestrial
14 radio."
15 Assuming that that statementis true,
16 to what extent does your simulcast streamprovide a

17 user experiencesimilar to terrestrial radio?

18 A. All of our -- all of our streamsare

19 exactly identical to our over-the-airproduct:s.

20 It's a hundredpercentsimulcast. They'e the

21 same. I mean whatever you hear over the air you

22 will hear on our stream.

23 Q- Okay. Are there any differencesat
24 all?

There can be some slight difference in
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1 commercialswhere we have to replace an
5799

2 out— of —market -- you know, part of our

3 out— of —market streamwith a generic commercial as

4 opposedto a local commercial.

But that happensvery, very rarely.
6 And so, other than that, no. They'e — — whatever

7 we say over the air you hear on the stream.

8 Whatever we play over the air your hear on the

9 stream.

10 Q ~ Mr. Kooker goes on to say and -- this
11 is the secondparagraph— — that: "The fundamental

12 distinction betweenstatutory servicesmirrors

13 terrestrial radio and directly licensedservices.
14 Enabling customizedmusic accessis rapidly
15 disappearing. Statutory servicesnow provide

16 highly customizedofferings to consumers."

17 Do you see that?
18 Yes, sir.
19 Q. Is your simulcast streambecoming more

20 customizedto the user?

21 A. There' no way -- no. There' no way

22 for the user to customizeour stream. You either
23 start it, or you stop it. But that's about the

24 only thing that you can do. It's exactly the same

25 as what we put. out over the air.
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Q ~ And then he talks about various
5800

2 feedbackmechanisms. I won't read the whole thing.

3 Sophisticatedalgorithms and user interface
4 controls and that kind of thing.

Do you have anything like that?

All of our streamsare set up -- no.

7 There is -- we have nothing -- there's just
8 it's -- exactly what you hear over the air is
9 exactly what you hear on the stream. So there'

10 Q. How do you get feedback from listeners?
Telephone, audienceresearch. I mean

12 we have a -- somebodycalls or -- and, you know,

13 they give us feedback.

14 But once again, there'sno -- there'
15 no one thing any one individual can do to provide

16 us feedbackof any kind of substancethat would

17 affect what we would put on either over the air or

18 on a stream.

19 Q ~ In the last sentencein that paragraph,

20 he talks about individualized programs streamedto

21 users.

22 Do you give individualized programs to

23 users?

24 A. No. We -- once again, we'e a

25 simulcast. So what we have -- what we have over
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1 the air we have on the stream. And it ' very much

2 a one-point-to-many-pointsort of system.

5801

There'sno way to customizewhat it. is
4 that we do or for a listener -- an individual to

5 customizeanything.

6 Q ~ Let' move on to Paragraph9 of your

7 written rebuttal testimony. And you mentioned

8 there there'ssome various places where users can

9 accessyour station stream. And one of them that
10 you mention there is TuneIn.

12

13

Do you see that?

Yes, sir.
Have you used TuneIn personally?

14 Yes.

15

16

And just for this case or previously?

No. I mean -- well, we'e used TuneIn

17 for quite some time. I'e used TuneIn for quite
18 some time.

19

20

Q- Okay. And what is TuneIn?

TuneIn, for me and for us, is a -- kind

21 of like an aggregator. It's a one-stopshop. It'
22 sort of where everybody goes to find out what'

23 being streamed.

And how did it come about -- and I take

25 it your stationsare on TuneIn?
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Yes.
5802

So how did that come about?

And I 'm assumingwe 'e talking about

4 our music stations

Q. Yes.

Our music stations are on TuneIn.

You know, for a while, when the

8 company -- I -- my understanding,when the company

9 TuneIn was first created, they were just sort of

10 taking streamsand — — or taking over— the—air signal

11 and putting it on a stream.

12 And several of us kind of went, yeah,

13 that's not cool. So we reachedan agreementwith

14 them several years ago that we would provide them

15 our stream. And, in return, if they sold, you know

16 what we call a gateway ad or a preroll ad, that we

17 would have an opportunity to share in the revenue

18 of it.
But -- so that's where we are now. We

20 feed them our stream, and they make it available to

21 their consumerbase.

22 Q. Who pays for the royalties when your

23 for the stream on your station when a listener
24 comes in through TuneIn?

25 A. We do.
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Q. Are you trying to get a national
5803

2 audienceby being on TuneIn for your stations?
No. I mean that's — — our stations are

4 very much designedto be live and local and focused

5 on our community.

So what we try to get through TuneIn is

7 accessto — — that anybody can accessus wherever

8 they happen to be, you know, in our community. Or

9 if they'e out of the community but want to know

10 what's going on in Atlanta or want to know what'

11 going on in San Diego, you know, they can accessit
12 from there.

13 You know, if you'e out of town when a

14 hurricanehits Miami, you know, you might not be

15 able to hear our over-the-airsignal from wherever

16 you are, but you can accessit through TuneIn or

17 one of our other places.
18 Does TuneIn add to your streamsany of

19 the customizationfeatures that Mr. Kooker

20 discussed?

21 A. No. You can'. No. There'sno way

22 for them to do anything. Once our stream starts,
23 there'snothing else you can do but let it play.

24 So they don't have the ability to — — once the

25 preroll is done, you know, TuneIn's involvement for
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1 any kind of interjection in our stream is over.

2 Q ~ Now, you'e familiar with the fact that

3 TuneIn has a search function?

5804

Uh —huh. Yes.

Q ~ So I'm a big Bruce Springsteenfan.

6 Let's say I want to hear "Born to Run," and I

7 search for "Born to Run," and I'm hoping to hear it
8 on a Lincoln Financial station.

How many of your ten music stations
10 might play "Born to Run"?

11 A. In general, one, maybe another one,

12 basedon what we have going on at any given time.

13 Which

14

15

16

WMXJ in Miami, Magic 102.7.

How big is its playlist?
We run betweenabout 280 and 320 or 330

17 songs.

18 Q ~ So let's say I get lucky, and it
19 happensto be playing on that station, and I click
20 on it.
21

22

23

24

Q-

Then what would happen?

If you click on it on TuneIn?

On TuneIn, yes.

Well, assumingonce you got through the

25 preroil, whatever it was, if there was, then you'
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1 join our stream in progress. I mean you'd join us

2 wherever we were in the part of the song that we

3 were playing, most likely not at the beginning but

4 some point in the song.

5805

Q. And I would have to listen to the

6 preroll while the song is playing, so I wouldn'

7 get to hear that?

Well, no. You literally -- it's just
9 kind of like you'd turn on the radio. You hear our

10 song, wherever we are in the song.

Q. And then what happensat the end of the

12 song?

13 Depending on what's next to -- what'

14 programmednext over the air and going on. I mean

15 local traffic, local weather. We could be reading

16 an event that's going up.

17 Or, you know, we could actually play

18 what we call a liner, which says the station name

19 and "Playing Michael Jackson, 'Beat It.'" It'
20 just whatever'snext for us to play.

21 Q And I can't control or influence what

22 happensnext?

23 No, not -- no. Unless you turn it off,
24 and then you can control it. But that's about it.
25 Q ~ And you'e hoping that won't happen.
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Yeah. Well, my mortgage company hopes
5806

2 that.
Now, if Mr. Pomerantzsaid that this

4 is -- the search function is almost on demand,

5 would you agree with that?

I don't -- there'sno demand. It'
7 kind of like a — — maybe on scan. But there'sno on

8 demand. There's -- if you'e searching,you'e
9 searching. There's nothing I can do about it.

10 It's not like I'm going to meet your demands. So

11 no. For me it wouldn't be consideredon demand.

12 Q. And are you trying to get listeners to

13 use -- to get onto your stream in this way to

14 search for individual songs?

15 No. No. That's not what we do. We'e

16 sort of a -- well, we'e a broadcastingservice.

17 You know, we'e looking for a total user

18 experience.

19 If -- there are other places you can

20 go. If you want to hear Bruce Springsteen,if
21 you'e a big Bruce Springsteenfan, and you don'

22 want the wait -- if I play two Bruce Springsteen

23 songs on Magic, and you don't want to wait for me

24 to play the other 318 songs before I come back to

25 Bruce Springsteenagain, you can go find a way to
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1 do that.
5807

So we don't -- that just doesn'tmake

3 any sense. I'd like to think you'd search for like

4 events going on in Miami and find our station in

5 Miami but not searchingfor a Bruce Springsteen

6 song.

Q ~ Let's switch over to your direct
8 testimony, which hopefully is the first tab in your

9 book, Exhibit 4002.

10 Got it there?

Yes, sir.
12 Q. Is Exhibit 4002 your written direct
13 test imony?

Yes, sir.
15 Q ~ And that's your signatureon the last
16 page?

17 Yes, sir.
18 Have you read over your written. direct
19 testimony recently?

20 Yes, sir
21 Q ~ Any changesto be made before I move it
22 in'?

23 There's one that I noticed that was a

24 typographicalerror. One of our radio stations in

25 Denver is listed here as KWRZ
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Q. Which page are you on?

On Page 5.

Okay.

5808

A. It ' listed as KWRZ, and it ' actually

5 KRWZ, AM 950.

Q ~

And then on the footnotes on Page 4

And that's where you'e talking about

8 some of your additional HD channels?

9 A. Yeah. You know, through the normal

10 course of business,you know, some channelscome

11 up," some channelsgo down. I mean it:'s a constant

12 evolution. And we try new things. You know,

13 maybe, you know we lease it out to a sports station
14 that's no longer there.

So it's changed. But the HD channels

16 are pretty insignificant to our overall operation.

17 Q ~ So j t changes — — some 0 f the formats of

18 those stations have changed?

19 A. Yeah. I think one was listed as

20 sports. It's now dark. But they'e just small

21 nuanceychanges.

22 Q. With those changesnoted, you believe

23 everything else in the written direct testimony is
24 true?

25 Yes, sir
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MR. STURM: Okay. I move the admission
5809

2 of the Exhibit 4002.

MR. OLASA: No objection.

CHIEF JUDGE BARNETT: 4002 is admitted.

(NAB Exhibit No. 4002 was admitted into

6 evidence.)

BY MR. STURM:

Q. All right. And then behind your

9 testimony, there are a number of additional

10 documentsthat were attachedto your written direct
11 testimony. It's Exhibits 4102 through 4109.

12 A. Yes, sir.
13 Q ~ And are those all documentsthat were

14 attachedto your written direct testimony?

15

16 Q ~

Yes, sir.
Okay. And you'e familiar with all

17 those documents?

18 Yes, sir.
MR. STURM: Move the admissionof 4102

20 through 4109.

21

22

MR. OLASA: No objection.

CHIEF JUDGE BARNETT: 4102 through 4109

23 inclusive are admitted.

(Exhibit No. 4102 through 4109 were

25 admitted into evidence.)
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Q ~

MR. STURM: Thank you, Your Honor.

BY MR. STURM:

Okay. So let's go back to your written

5810

4 direct testimony.

For Lincoln's music stations -- 10 out

6 of 16, right?

Yes, sir.
Q ~ Do you believe that music is an

9 important componentof the programming of those

10 stations?
A. Yeah. It is a very important

12 component, but it's not the only component.

13 Okay. Can you have a successful

14 station with just music?

15 A. In my 35 years of experience,no.

Q. Why not?

17 A. Primarily because,you know, music,

18 while it's important, is for us in radio sort of

19 the least -- it's the least unique thing that we

20 have. Every radio station can play Katy Perry if
21 they want to. So just the fact that I play a song

22 doesn'tmean that it's unique to me. I'd love it
23 if it could be, if I was on the receiving end of

24 all that exclusivity. But it's not.

25 So everything else is -- it's kind of
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1 like music just sort of levels the playing field.
2 It's what you do after that that really starts to

3 help separateyou from your competition in the

4 market.

5811

And you discuss some of these

6 componentsin your written direct testimony. And I

7 don't want to go through each and every one of

8 them.

But how is on-air talent important?

10 If -- you know, on-air talent is for us

11 the -- it's sort of our first line of product

12 differentiation and our most important line of

13 product differentiation, primarily becausethese

14 people are very unique.

15 I mean there'sonly one Larry, Kendall

16 and Kathie, our morning show in Denver. There'

17 only one Drex, Cassidayand Tingle, our morning

18 show in Atlanta. There's only one Heather Branch,

19 who's our midday person, or one DJ Jones.

20 So I don't to want to belabor the

21 point, but it's where we spend a lot of time,

22 effort, energy, money. Becauseit's the thing

23 that's the most unique about our radio stations
And then you start talking about

25 marketing and promotion. That's sort of another
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1 part of what we build our radio stations on and the

2 uniquenessof that and how we try to -- I mean

3 we literally will try and find it out with other

4 broadcastersabout who gets an event and who

5 doesn'. So that provides another level.

5812

So it's a constantbattle for what'

7 unique and what's original
And who are you battling with?

The other radio stations in town.

10 Sometimes the television stations, but it's mostly

11 — — you know, it's my competitors in Atlanta that I

12 try to beat or any one of the other markets.

13 In Paragraph32 of your written direct
14 testimony, right in the middle of that paragraph

15 you say: "A great morning show can even draw

16 listeners from outside the base music demographic

17 of the station."
18

19

What do you mean by that?

Probably the close — — the quickest

20 example I can think of is we have a rhythm top 40

21 station Denver, KQKS, KS 107.5. Those stations are

22 targetedto perform well with 18 to 34 persons.

23 They tend to kind of be younger demo, cool sounding

24 station.
25 Our morning show Larry, Kendall and
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1 Kathie, not only do they perform extremely well 18

2 to 34, but they perform well 18 to 49 and 25, 54,

3 you know, which is way outside the expected

4 performanceof a radio station like that.

5813

So when you see a station perform that
6 well, 25, 54, on a radio station that's focused

7 sort of that young, it's almost like the morning

8 show, you know, succeedsin spite of the music that
9 we play.

10 People will listen to them for their
11 humor and kind of ignore, you know, maybe the songs

12 that we play. I don't think they hate it, but they

13 just -- it's not what they'e there for.
14 Q ~ Becausethey'enot going to play Bruce

15 Springsteen,are they?

Yeah. No. We'e not going to play

17 Bruce Springsteenthere. Wiz Khalifa maybe. Bruce

18 Springsteen,no.

19 Q ~ Are there -- do you also provide local

20 news, sports, weather, information?

21 A. Constantly on most of our radio

22 stations. In some way, shape, or form it', you

23 know, newscasts,traffic reports, weather,

24 community events, what's happeningin the

25 community, public service, you know, all the way
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1 from, you know, here'swhat's going on this weekend

2 at a park to here'sa charity function while we'e
3 trying to raise money for children of cancer. So

4 it's nonstop.

5 Q- And are there times when that kind of

6 information is particularly important?

5814

Yeah. You know, I was thinking. We'e

8 -- we -- I'm not so sure you want to live in a

9 Lincoln radio station market. We have hurricanes

10 in Miami. I think they called it snowmageddonin

11 Atlanta where the freeways froze up and, you know,

12 nobody could drive around. It was really stupid to

13 see, and I got a front-row seat it to. I could see

14 out my window.

15 But, you know, we were giving people

16 information. People were calling us with

17 information about where their loved ones were.

18 Emergencyresponsepeople were calling us, you

19 know, providing us with information to give to

20 people.

21 In Denver a couple of years ago a bunch

22 of mountains caught on fire, and we were providing

23 evacuationroutes for people that were caught in

24 those generalareas. It just happenedto hit an

25 area where one of our country stations, KYGO really
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1 performancewell. So we knew we had a lot of

2 listenersup there.

5815

So willing to drop music and go to just
4 this nonstop coverageof telling people what'

5 going on.

Same thing happens in San Diego. You

7 know, we have earthquakepreparednessbecauseit'
8 just a matter of time. But, you know, the fires
9 out there. And it even goes further than that kind

10 of information.

It's literally -- like when an area

12 called Mimona in San Diego caught on fire,
13 surprisingly -- you know, something that most

14 people don't realize is there are a lot of horses

15 in that general area.

When your house catcheson fire, when

17 the forest is burning, you can go find a hotel.
18 You can't necessarilydo that for a horse.

19 So we beganworking with Humane Society

20 and trying to find places where we could put these

21 horsesor put large animals just becauseit's just
22 somethingyou don't think about.

23 So we do that hopefully -- we do it
24 when necessary,hopefully not too much. But.

25 Let's change gears here and go on to
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1 Paragraphs41 to 47 of your written direct
2 testimony where you discussemotional value when

3 the labels attempt to promote their music on the

4 radio.

5816

So what personal involvement do you

6 have with that?
It's kind of been a long process. I

8 mean when I was a program director, back before I

9 became the vice presidentof programming, you know,

10 I would handle those calls and promotional messages

11 and CDs on a daily basis.
12 Once I got to the position that I was

13 in before also assumingthe program directorshipat
14 Star, it was more an intermediator-- intermediary.

15 Sorry. You know, I

16 Q. What. do you mean by that?
17 A. Well, through 35 years of being in the

18 business, I know a lot of people at the labels. A

19 lot of people at the labels know me.

20 And so, as we hire new program

21 directors or bring in new music directors,
22 promotions directors, you know, there'

23 sometimesthere's just introductions that need to

24 be done.

25 Or I may know somebodyat a label one

(866)448 - DEPO www.CapitalReportingCompany.corn  2015



CapitalReportingCompany
Day 21 In Re: Determinationof RoyaltyRates(Public) 05-26-2015

1 of our program directors doesn' know, so I provide

2 that sort of building of relationships.

5817

And I'm also -- have been on

4 occasion-- I'm kind of like a mediator. If
5 sometimesthere'ssomebodyat a label that I know

6 that feels like they'enot getting a fair shake in

7 getting a song on our air, and, you know, they'e
8 either angry at the program director or worried

9 that there might be somethingelse going on, I'l
10 arrange to have, you know, sort of a -- it's not

11 necessarilyat the level of a beer at the White

12 House, but it's -- you know, try to work that kind

13 of stuff out and make sure that everybody'sgetting
14 a fair shake.

15 Q ~ So do artist and labels routinely
16 approachLincoln to play their music?

17 Yeah. It's almost -- "nonstop" is
18 probably not an accurateword, but it is frequent.
19 In the old days, old school, they used to FedEx us

20 tons of CDs. Now it's e-mails and MP3s through

21 mail and fliers and phone calls and in-person

22 visits to the station and, you know, on-air

23 interviews and private performances.

24 Q. And do the artist participate in those

25 efforts?
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Oh, yeah. Yeah. I mean especiallynew
5818

2 artists and just kind of like up-and— coming

3 artists.
Brand-new artists are -- the labels

5 are, you know, reasonablyaggressivein trying to

6 get new artists exposedon the radio. So they

7 bring them by. There'sphone calls. There'

8 conferencerooms where, you know, people come in

9 and play a guitar or play a piano and, you know,

10 perform for us in a conferenceroom.

Or they'l let us bring in a small

12 group of people or, you know, even put them on the

13 air. If they'e a more established,you know,

14 artist, you know, they'l ask for an on— air
15 interview, and we'l put them on the air.
16 Q. In the promotional activities directed
17 at you, do the labels distinguishbetweenmusic

18 going over the air and what's going over the

19 stream?

20 It's the same -- no. It's the same

21 thing. It's — — there'sno difference. So that
22 I'm trying to answer your -- there'sno way for

23 that to come -- it just doesn't come up. There'

24 no difference, so it — — no

25 Does that -- have any of them expressed
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1 any aversion to being on the stream?

2 A. No. But once again, that just
3 everybody knows that, you know, if -- whatever we

4 play over the air plays on the stream. So it'
5 I'm trying to think of an analogy. But it's just
6 the -- it's one and the same thing.

5819

Q ~ Let's change gears again and talk about

8 revenuesfrom streamingand profits or losses. And

9 I'm going to -- I think I can probably ask these

10 questionsso we don'0 have to close the courtroom.

If I ask a question in a way that
12 requires confidential information, let me know.

13 A. Okay.

14 Q ~ I'l try to rephraseit, or we can

15 close the courtroom if we need it.
16 Generally, how has Lincoln historically
17 received revenuesfrom streaming? What are the

18 sources?

19 A. Up until we moved to what's now called
20 total line reporting
21 Q ~ Let's discussthe format before you

22 made the change.

23 A. Okay. Spot insertion and prerolls. We

24 would insert commercialsand, of course, preroll if
25 you were joining a stream.
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But, you know, that was the only way.
5820

2 I mean it was -- I mean essentiallythe same place

3 thing; we just replacedthe commercials.

So there's two ways, prerolls and ad

5 insertions, right?
Yes, sir
Okay. And preroll is what you hear

8 before you click on "Listen Live" or whatever, and

9 you hear an ad or see an ad -- see and hear an ad

10 before you get to the stream?

Right. If you click on "Listen Live,"

12 the preroll starts. There'sno way to get to our

13 streamwithout seeing the preroll.
14

15

17

Q. Do you let people skip those?

No. No.

Even if they want to?

It's not like YouTube. You'e got to

18 watch it.
And then what is ad insertion?

20 Ad insertion was a technology that was

21 developedwhen radio stationswanted to start
22 streamingagain after some settlementsthrough

23 Astra.

24 But we basically just take -- when we

25 start playing commercialsover the air, we would
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1 stop what we were streamingand put different
2 commercials in. So that was -- and then, when we

3 were done playing those commercials, if we didn'

4 have a -- what we call a full-stop set, we'd have

5 to fill it with Smoky the Bear and McGruff The

6 Crime Dog and various other public service

7 announcements.

5821

That's basically spot insertion. We

9 just take the commercialsthat we'e playing over

10 the air and off the streamand put different
11 commercials in.

Q ~ And to the extent you couldn't sell an

13 ad on the stream, then you'd have to fill that time

14 some other way?

15 Yeah, which was the -- yes. That'

16 that was one of our biggest problems with ad

17 insertions.
18 Q. Well, so why did this ad insertion
19 model not work for you?

20 Well, there's-- you know, our -- a

21 couple of reasons. One is that, you know, the

22 demand for ad insertion -- the demand for our

23 streamswasn't high. And so trying to sell them

24 was problematicbecausethe demand for them wasn'

25 nearly as high as the demand for our over-the-air
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1 product.
5822

So when we'd go to a break over the

3 air, we may have, for example, six minutes worth of

4 commercials in a break over the air but only a

5 minute worth of commercials on the stream. Then we

6 have to fill it with something or go silent.
And in my experiencing, you know, a

8 radio station shouldn't be silent at any time. So

9 we'd wind up having to fill it. And we fill it
10 with whatever content we could find, usually

11 station promotional announcements,public affairs
12 announcements,public service announcements.

13 It was one of the things that just
14 really made that model not work for us

15

16

Q- Was that a monetarily successfulmodel?

No. No. I mean if you'e talking
17 about profit, yeah, no. Not even close. We made

18 -- we were able to generatesome revenue for it.
19 But the revenueversus expensewas nowhere near

20 profitable.
21 And so what change have you made more

22 recently?

23 A couple of years ago Nielsen allowed

24 us to do what they called TLR, which is total line
25 reporting.
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If our over— the—air signal and
5823

2 streamingsignal are substantiallythe same, we can

3 apply for what they call TLR, which is Nielsen will
4 combine the ratings from both our stream and the

5 over-the-airand issue one rating
So there'ssome requirementsthat — — on

7 how we replace -- if we replace commercials, how we

8 replace them. But that happensso — — so rarely
9 that -- matter of fact, I'm not aware of something

10 that's happenedin the last couple of months where

11 we had to replace commercials.

12 Q. What was an example of when you did

13 have to replace a commercial2

14 Like McDonald's, if — — if they want to

15 do their McRib special in Miami, but they don'

16 want the rest of the country to know that, you

17 know, somebody in Miami is doing a McRib special,
18 apparentlyeven some of their other vendors, they

19 would ask us to do what we call in-stream

20 replacements.

21 So Nielsen rules were that we either
22 have to — — we could replace the streamed

23 commercial — — out— of —market stream commercial in

24 one of two ways. We could either put a

25 substantiallysimilar but generic commercial on the
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1 air from the same advertiser, you know, so a

2 McDonald's general spot, an example would be the

3 I'm Loving It" commercial. Or we could replace it
4 with a station promotion, some kind of promotional

5 announcement.

5824

But the one rule that Nielsen has is
7 that we couldn't try and sell that to anybody else.
8 So we didn't — — it's not like we had a revenue

9 opportunity. If we had to replace the McDonald's

10 spot, we could either replace it with another

11 commercial or a station promo but couldn't sell it.
12 Q. You don't have to do that all that
13 frequently; is that correct?

14 A. No. I mean it was more of an issue of

15 advertiserswanting the ability to do it as opposed

16 to the need to do it.
17 I don't get down into our day-to-day

18 businessat that level on a regular basis. But I'm

19 not aware of anything that's happenedin the recent

20 past.
21 Q ~ In Paragraph18 of your written direct
22 testimony, which is on Page 7

23 Yes, sir.
you say that: "Streaming audience

25 measurementremains in its infancy."
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Do you see that?
5825

Yes, sir
3 Q ~

4 why that i s?

What do you mean? Could you explain

5 A. The over-the-air ratings are fairly
6 well substantiated,and advertisersare comfortable

7 with them, and there'sa monitoring system in place

8 to do it and relateswhat advertisersunderstand.

10

Q. What system is that.?

It's PPM, Nielsen PPM. So it's a

11 you know, the PersonalPeople Meter or Portable

12 People Meter, however you want to — — you know, it '

13 just PPM. So

14 Q ~ Is that available everywhere?

15 A. No. It's available in the top 50

16 markets with PPM. And then there'sa different
17 methodology that they use for the smaller markets

18 up to a certain point. And then there'sno ratings
19 methodologyavailable at all for various -- at

20 least Nielsen doesn'toffer a ratings methodology

21 at all for very small markets.

22 Q. And do you have to pay for the Nielsen

23 ratings?
Yeah. Yeah. They'e pretty expensive.

25 Actually, they'e really expensive. Some
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1 becauseof the markets that we'e, in top 20

2 markets, and a lot of the -- you know, the

3 advertisershave that kind of -- they understand

4 why they'ebuying.

5826

So you'e almost required -- if you'e
6 going to run kind of a major operation, it's almost

7 a necessity-- it is a necessityto have Nielsen

8 ratings. There'sno way to tell advertisershow

9 big you are without them.

10 Okay. So now compare that with

11 streaming.

12 With streamingright now, it's sort of

13 a mixed bag. There are people that are getting
14 into it. Triton's getting into it. Nielsen is
15 getting into it. There's some measurementsthat
16 you have.

17 But to try and get them to equateback

18 to what we do over the air is difficult. You know,

19 I mean duplicating people, duplicating listening
20 time. There's just no -- there'sno accurateway

21 right now to get an audience-- an audience

22 estimateout of them.

23 So it may be coming in the future, but

24 I don't think it's any time soon.

25 What has the effect of going to TLR
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1 been for Lincoln Financial Media?
5827

In which way? Money or audienceor

3 both? Both?

Q ~ Do both.

Okay. In money, we'e lost more money.

6 What we did know -- what I believe is that the way

7 we were doing it was spot insertion. We weren'.

8 seeingany headway there.
So the kind of definition of insanity

10 is doing the same thing over and over again

11 expecting a different result. So we figured we

12 might try somethingdifferent.
13 So we knew we were going to take

14 anothershort-term loss. So what we tried to do

15 And what would the short-term loss be?

Well, all of a suddennow, if we pull
17 out any availability for spot insertion, obviously

18 -- even though there were small dollars there,
19 there were dollars. So those dollars went away.

20 We couldn't insert the commercials. So

21 we couldn't charge them. We kept it preroll.
22 But what we did was got. an immediate

23 improvement. in our product, becausenow we didn'

24 have to do the clunky spot insertion where things

25 got hacked up. And buffering and all kinds of
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1 crazy stuff was happeningwhen we were inserting
2 spots.

5828

So now it sounds -- wasn't exactly like
4 it sounds over the air all the time. So that'
5 helped.

So -- and what we'e hoping to do is

7 that eventually, through TLR, Nielsen will be able

8 to, you know, pick it up. We now share the same

9 coded signal that we do over the air. So the

10 meters hear the same thing. So maybe we get some

11 more ratings in there.
We'e seen little spurts. I mean we'e

13 -- you know, we'e seen something that's like
14 almost like a hatchling

15 Q.

16 could get2

What's the smallest increment that you

17 A. A .1 rating point, which is really,
18 really small and wouldn't make you available

19 wouldn't -- no advertiser'sgoing to buy a .1 when

20 there are stations in the market that sell .5, .6,

21 1.0. So .1 is the smallest one you can get.

22 And we'e been able to see it a couple

23 of times in a couple of our stations on a couple of

24 months. Like our station in Miami, sometimeswe'l
25 see it around Christmastime. When we play a lot. of
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1 Christmasmusic, we'l see a little bump in the

2 stream. And then the numbers go back down.

5829

Or we'l just see kind of a gradual

4 the difficulty we'e having right now is, until we

5 can get it to consistentlyhappen, those .ls, .2s,

6 .3s, if we ever see that, advertisersaren'

7 willing to -- advertisersaren't willing to buy it
I mean, first of all, ratings come in

9 behind. So I mean when we see a ratings bump, what

10 we did to get the rating is already over. So

11 advertisersaren't buying that. You know, they'e
12 buying our ability to sustain it. And we just
13 haven't been able to sustain it yet.

Q ~ And so financially how are you doing

15 now that you'e moved to TLR?

16 Oh, we'e losing money. I mean so

17 it's still a tough pot. You know, we'e still
18 hoping that we can find -- we can find that magic

19 elixer.
20 I can tell you that, you know, the

21 expenseson the streamare astronomical. It is
22 a -- it's a hard thing to overcome SoundExchange

23 fees. They'e just -- they'e really expensive.

24 Q. Okay. And let' put some specifics on

25 that.
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Could you look at Page 12 of your
5830

2 written direct testimony.

Do you it have there?

Yes, sir.
And again, maybe we can do this without

6 discussingthis specific numbers.

But can you describe for the court

8 generallywhat this chart shows?

I mean it's broken down by, you know, a

10 full year of 2013 and, you know, 2014 through

11 August 31. It has two of our music stations
12 streamingmusic stations in Miami and two of our

13 music streamingstations in Denver.

14 Q. Why did you chose those stations?
15 I mean we — — the revenue that we make

16 is so insignificant, that trying to measureit on a

17 regular basis and engageat that level is extremely

18 difficult and time consuming.

19 But we do have some institutional
20 knowledge in our controller in Miami and our

21 controller in Denver, who were able to kind of

22 like, from an experimentalstandpoint, really kind

23 of figure out -- we wanted to know what to do.

So insteadof trying to implement it
25 companywide, we just picked the two markets that
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1 more often than not have had successwith streaming

2 and tried to take a look at that, see what that
3 looked like.

5831

4 Q ~ What does the streamingrevenue column

5 show?

That ' everything that can be directly
7 attributed to the stream: the preroll, the spot

8 insertion, any revenue that ' directed at the

9 stream.

10 Q ~ Now, for more recent periods, would TLR

11 have any affect on the streaming revenue?

12 A. As I said before, TLR was -- we knew

13 that going to total line reporting would diminish

14 our ability to accessrevenuebecausewe can'

15 insert spots.

So the reductions in revenue that you

17 see were kind of a calculatedmove on our part to

18 try somethingnew and see if we can get something

19 going somewhereelse.
20 Q ~ So does that explain why revenuesare

21 going down somewhat 2013 to 2014?

22 A. Yes.

23 Q ~ SoundExchangeroyalties, I assume, is
24 self -- self-evidence.

25 The third column is streaming

(866)448 - DEPO www.CapitalReportingCompany.corn  2015



CapitalReportingCompany
Day 21 In Re: Determinationof RoyaltyRates(Public) 05-26-2015

1 bandwidth, schedulingand composerroyalties.
5832

Can you explain what those are and why

3 you chose to include them in the chart?

4 A. Well, I mean the streamingbandwidth is
5 what we pay Triton, our streamingprovider.

6 They'e the people we send our signal to. And they

7 distribute it. So, you know, they charge us a fee

8 for doing that.
The bandwidth chargesthat we tie up in

10 order to send the stream or the people tie up

11 with with Triton, you know, there'sa charge for

12 that.
13 There's RIA and -- and -- or excuseme

14 There'sASCAP, SESAC and BMI fees, the licensing
15 fees that go into that. So anything that was in

16 there is, you know, a cost that would directly go

17 away if we stoppedstreaming.

18 So, in other words, we didn't put like
19 the program director cost who puts together the log

20 and all the production costs of people and

21 everything else. That's just -- we really wanted

22 to take a look at how much it. was costing us to do

23 this.
So those are -- like I said, if those

25 numbers -- the numbers in that column are, if we
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1 stoppedstreaming, those expenseswould immediately

2 just go away.

5833

And the final column is the loss with

4 respectto direct revenuesand direct costs?

Q.

Yes, as sad as that may seem.

If royalties stay about the same, do

7 you see any likelihood that this picture is going

8 to change substantially?
No. I mean from a business

10 perspective,when you take a look at that, and

11 honestly, when we startedputting together this
12 chart where you asked us to put together this chart

13 and we were trying to figure it out, it was

14 astounding.

15 I mean this graph alone causedmajor

16 discussionsinside our company whether we should

17 continue to do this or not. Becausetrying to

18 sustain these losses — — these kinds of lossesover

19 a long period of time is just not a good business

20 model.

21 So unless we see -- I mean, you know,

22 bandwidth chargesare going down. We pay less and

23 less for bandwidth every year. It gets cheaper.

So unless some other costs go down, we

25 -- I don't see a foreseeablebusinessmodel doing
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5834

Q. And is whether or not to continue

3 steaming something that continues to be under

4 discussion?

Every month when we — — you know, when

6 we pay bills.
MR. OLASA: Objection, Your Honor.

8 This part is beyond the scope of the written

9 direct.
10 CHIEF JUDGE BARNETT: Are you -- you

11 look like you'e holding up.

12 MR. STURM: Yes. That was my last
13 question.

14 CHIEF JUDGE BARNETT: Okay. Overruled.

15 We'l leave that in the record.

16

17

18

MR. STURM: Thank you, Your Honor.

CHIEF JUDGE BARNETT: Thank you.

Mr. Olasa.

JUDGE STRICKLER: Just before — — you

20 can go on up to the podium.

21 Just a question for you following up

22 good afternoon, by the way.

23 THE WITNESS: Good afternoon.

JUDGE STRICKLER: A question for you

25 with regard to somethingyou just talked about, in
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1 particular, with referenceto a statementyou make

2 in Paragraph18 of your written direct testimony

3 and then again in Paragraph20 — — a di f f erent

4 statementin Paragraph23.

5835

So take Paragraph18 first.
THE WITNESS: Sure.

JUDGE STRICKLER: You say: "Many of

8 our advertisersare unwilling to pay anything extra

9 for inclusion of their advertisementson our

10 streams."

And you talked about that at length

12 this afternoon, right?
13

14

THE WITNESS: Yes, sir.
JUDGE STRICKLER: And you also talk

15 about how ad insertion now is no longer being done

16 becauseof the reporting requirements.

17 And then on Paragraph23 you say:

18 Well, we do not believe our listenerswould pay a

19 subscriptionfee to receive our streams, close

20 quote.

21

22

23

Do you see that?

THE WITNESS: Yes, sir.
JUDGE STRICKLER: So you'e not making

24 money becausethe advertiserswon' pay more. You

25 can't get revenue from listenersbecausethey won'
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1 pay for streaming. So there'sno revenue source

2 for it. I understandyou just saw this chart, and

3 you said it's an eye opener for you.

5836

THE WITNESS: Right.

JUDGE STRICKLER: But it's probably

6 pretty intuitive to you before you saw the chart.
7 If nobody is paying for it, you'e not making any

8 money on it.
What's the economic interest in doing

10 it while rates -- and you'e been doing it for

11 eight years, you'e said.
12

13

THE WITNESS: Yes.

JUDGE STRICKLER: What's the economic

14 incentive to do that for eight years? If you'e
15 losing money chronically, you'e certainly not

16 making it up on volume.

17 THE WITNESS: No, no. Really it', you

18 know, kind of -- one of the things that we do is
19 try to skate to where the puck is going to be.

20 And so, you know, trying to be in all
21 places, the same with HD, is to have our services

22 there where listenersmight find us.

23 So -- becausethey start moving over to

24 streams,you know, we want to be there like
25 everybody else, like our competitors.
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JUDGE STRICKLER: Your hockey analogy
5837

2 intrigues me becauselosing money and having no

3 source of revenue seemsmore like an own goal than

4 moving the puck across the blue line.
THE WITNESS: Yeah. It's just -- you

6 know, we don't have to stream. We take a look at

7 it and go there's -- we think there'ssomething

8 there. We want to try and be there.

We know that more and more consumers

10 are moving to the convenienceof their mobile

11 phones. We know that automakersare, you know,

12 rapidly gearing toward Internet— accessible

13 features.
That's kind of like why we'e on

15 TuneIn, so that when -- we make our living mostly

16 in morning shows with funny, entertainingpeople in

17 cars on commutes to and from work and in the

18 office. So to be able to have our product there is
19 -- it's pretty important.

20 JUDGE STRICKLER: So is it fair to say

21 you'e trying to invest in a presencein that
22 market in the anticipation that it's a burgeoning

23 market, so you'l be there when the market takes

24 off?

25 THE WITNESS: That's what we'e been
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1 saying for eight years. Yes, sir.
5838

JUDGE STRICKLER: Okay.

THE WITNESS: And that eventually there

4 might be a there there, and it's incumbent upon us

5 to try and figure out how to make that work.

JUDGE STRICKLER: To keep that going,

7 you need lower rates?
THE WITNESS: Yes. I just -- I can'

9 tell people, "Go listen to our stream," if I move

10 them from over the air to the stream. Becauseit
11 immediately begins to cost me money.

12 The second I put one listener on a

13 stream it immediately begins to cost me money. And

14 advertiserdon't buy one listener. Advertisersbuy

15 a bunch.

So I mean that's sort of the place that
17 we'e in right now, was I'd love to scream from the

18 rooftops, "Listen to our stream. Listen to our

19 stream." But I can't afford to do that becausemy

20 costs go up long before my revenuesgo up.

21 JUDGE STRICKLER: And you'e hoping

22 that loss gets offset. down the road when the market

23 finally takes off?

24

25

THE WITNESS: Yes, sir.
JUDGE STRICKLER: Okay.
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1 CROSS— EXAMINATION BY COUNSEL FOR SOUNDEXCHANGE

5839

BY MR. OLASA:

Q. Good afternoon, Mr. Dimick.

Good afternoon.

My name is Kuruvilla Olasa, and I

6 representSoundExchange.

And I think we can keep most of this
8 public, in fact, maybe all of it public. If at any

9 time I ask you a question and you need to get into

10 some restrictedmaterial, we can close the

11 courtroom.

12

13

Q.

Is that okay?

Sure. Thank you.

Let's start with your rebuttal
15 testimony. And that's Tab 2 in the binder that I

16 just put on your desk.

17 Okay. So the binder that was here, I

18 should switch to this one?

You can put that aside. We may look

20 back at it, but for now.

21

22

Okay.

And that's your written rebuttal
23 testimony in front of you?

Yes, sir.
25 And you reject the contention that
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1 simulcast servicesare convergingwith on-demand

2 services, right?

5840

Q ~

I'm sorry?

You reject the contention that
5 simulcast servicesare convergingwith on-demand

6 services, right?
Yes. Our simulcast services.

Q ~ Sure.

And that's basedon your experienceat

10 Lincoln Financial?

12 Q ~ But it ' also basedon your knowledge

13 of the industry, right?
14 A. Yes.

15 Q. Now, you know that your stationsare

16 available on TuneIn, correct?

17 A. Yes, sir.
18 Q ~ And I believe you describedTuneIn as

19 an aggregator?

20 Yes.

21 Have you used in TuneIn?

22 Yes.

23 Have you used the TuneIn Website?

I -- www.TuneIn.corn?

25 It's TuneIn.corn?
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